
 
 

 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

County Council 
 

9 July 2024 
 
 
 

 

Agenda 
 
 

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/


 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 247805  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 

 

 

 
 
 
To: Members of the County COUNCIL 

 

Notice of a Meeting of the County Council 
 

Tuesday, 9 July 2024 at 10.30 am 
 

Council Chamber - County Hall, New Road, Oxford OX1 1ND 
 
 

If you wish to view proceedings, please click on this Live Stream Link. Please note, that 
will not allow you to participate in the meeting. 

 

 

The motions have been received and circulated to all elected Members. However, they 
have not been published externally at this stage with the Council agenda as it is 
considered by the Monitoring Officer that such publication would breach rules regarding 

pre-election sensitivity and amount to the use of Council resources for political purposes. 
In particular, section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986 prevents the publication of 

material designed to affect the support for a political party. This is supplemented by the 
Code of Practice issued under section 4 of the Local Government Act 1986, which 
requires the Council to exercise further caution regarding the publication of material 

during a pre-election period of heightened sensitivity. 
 

All of the motions will be published following the close of polls on Thursday 4 July 2024. 

 
 

Martin Reeves   
Chief Executive June 2024 
  

Committee Officer: Colm Ó Caomhánaigh 
Tel: 07393 001096; E-Mail: 

colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 

http://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/
https://oxon.cc/FC09072024


- 2 - 
 

 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 

 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 21 May 2024 (CC1) and to receive 

information arising from them. 

 

2. Apologies for Absence  

 

3. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note  

 

 Members are reminded that they must declare their interests orally at the meeting and 
specify (a) the nature of the interest and (b) which items on the agenda are the relevant 
items. This applies also to items where members have interests by virtue of their 

membership of a district council in Oxfordshire. 
 

4. Official Communications  

 

5. Appointments  

 

 To make any changes to the membership of scrutiny and other committees on the 

nomination of political groups and to note any changes to the Cabinet made by the 
Leader of the Council. 
 

6. Petitions and Public Address  

 

 Members of the public who wish to speak on an item on the agenda at this meeting, or 
present a petition, can attend the meeting in person or ‘virtually’ through an online 

connection. Requests must be submitted no later than 9am one working day before the 
meeting i.e., 9am on Monday 8 July 2024. Requests to speak should be sent to 
committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
If you are speaking ‘virtually’, you may submit a written statement of your presentation 

to ensure that if the technology fails, then your views can still be taken into account. A 
written copy of your statement can be provided no later than 9am on the day of the 
meeting. Written submissions should be no longer than 1 A4 sheet. 

 

7. Questions with Notice from Members of the Public  

 

8. Questions with Notice from Members of the Council  

 

9. Report of the Cabinet (Pages 9 - 14) 

 

mailto:committeesdemocraticservices@oxfordshire.gov.uk


- 3 - 
 

 

 Report from Leader of the Council. 
  
The report summarises the decisions from the Cabinet meetings on 14 May 2024 and 

18 June 2024. 
 

10. Annual Report of the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

(Pages 15 - 42) 
 

 Report by the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 
The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is under a constitutional duty to prepare 
an annual report. That report is set out in Annex 1 and documents the breadth and 

depth of the Committee’s work over the 2023/24 Council year. 
 
Council is RECOMMENDED to receive and note the Joint Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee’s Annual Report set out in Annex 1.   

 

11. Committees and Review of Political Balance (Pages 43 - 52) 

 

 Report of the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

Council is requested to approve committee appointments based on revised political 
balance calculations following a by-election and other changes. 
 
Council is RECOMMENDED 
 

a) To note the review of political balance of committees to reflect the election 
of a new councillor, Peter Stevens, at the Sutton Courtenay and Marcham 
by-election on 20 June 2024 and the resignation of two members, Cllr 

Kevin Bulmer and Cllr Jane Murphy, from the Conservative Independent 
Alliance.   

 
b) To appoint members to the committees of the Council listed at Annex 1. A 

fully populated list with nominations from the political groups for the 

vacant seats will be circulated ahead of the meeting.  

 

12. Independent Persons (Pages 53 - 56) 

 

 Report of the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

The Council must seek the views of Independent Persons before deciding any 
allegation investigated under the Member Code of Conduct. Independent Persons also 
play a key consultative role in the statutory processes for the dismissal of the Council’s 

three key statutory officers.  
 
Council is RECOMMENDED to extend the appointments of Mr Martyn Hocking 
and Mr Nicholas Holt-Kentwell in the role of Independent Persons for Oxfordshire 
County Council until 30 November 2024. 

 



- 4 - 
 

 

13. Special Urgency Decisions (Pages 57 - 60) 

 

 Report by Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 
The Council’s Constitution requires that “the Leader of the Council will submit quarterly 
reports to the Council on any executive decisions taken in the circumstances set out in 

Rule 16 (special urgency) in the preceding three months. The report will include the 
number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of which those 

decisions were taken”. 
 
Council is RECOMMENDED to note  

 
a) the use of Special Urgency for a Key Decision on 23 May 2024 and 

 
b) the exemption from Call-in of a Key Decision made by Cabinet on 14 May 

2024. 

 

 MOTIONS WITH NOTICE FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

The motions have been received and circulated to all elected Members. However, they 
have not been published externally at this stage with the Council agenda as it is 
considered by the Monitoring Officer that such publication would breach rules regarding 

pre-election sensitivity and amount to the use of Council resources for political 
purposes. In particular, section 2 of the Local Government Act 1986 prevents the 

publication of material designed to affect the support for a political party. This is 
supplemented by the Code of Practice issued under section 4 of the Local Government 
Act 1986, which requires the Council to exercise further caution regarding the 

publication of material during a pre-election period of heightened sensitivity. 
 

All of the motions will be published following the close of polls on Thursday 4 July 2024. 
 
WOULD MEMBERS PLEASE NOTE THAT ANY AMENDMENTS TO MOTIONS WITH 

NOTICE MUST BE PRESENTED TO THE PROPER OFFICER IN WRITING BY 
9.00 AM ON THE FRIDAY BEFORE THE MEETING 
 

14. Motion by Councillor Liz Brighouse  

 

15. Motion by Councillor Ian Middleton  

 

16. Motion by Councillor Sally Povolotsky  

 

17. Motion by Councillor Eddie Reeves  

 

18. Motion by Councillor Stefan Gawrysiak  

 

19. Motion by Councillor Mark Cherry  

 



- 5 - 
 

 

20. Motion by Councillor Charlie Hicks  

 

21. Motion by Councillor Sally Povolotsky  

 

22. Motion by Councillor Freddie van Mierlo  

 

23. Motion by Councillor Ian Middleton  

 

24. Motion by Councillor Eddie Reeves  

 

25. Motion by Councillor Kieron Mallon  

 

26. Motion by Councillor Donna Ford  

 

27. Motion by Councillor Ian Snowdon  

 

28. Motion by Councillor Pete Sudbury  

 

29. Motion by Councillor Ian Corkin  

 

 



- 6 - 
 

 

Councillors declaring interests  
 

General duty  

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item 

on the agenda headed ‘Declarations of Interest’ or as soon as it becomes apparent to 

you.  

 

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?  

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your employment; sponsorship (i.e. payment for 

expenses incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your 

election expenses); contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the 

Council’s area; corporate tenancies; and securities. These declarations must be 

recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which is publicly available on the 

Council’s website.  

 

Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member 

her or himself but also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with 

as husband or wife or as if they were civil partners. 

 

Declaring an interest  

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a 

meeting, you must declare that you have an interest. You should also disclose the nature 

as well as the existence of the interest. If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after 

having declared it at the meeting you must not participate in discussion or voting on the 

item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception  

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code 

of Conduct says that a member ‘must serve only the public interest and must never 

improperly confer an advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself’ and 

that ‘you must not place yourself in situations where your honesty and integrity may be 

questioned’.  

 

Members Code – Other registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to the financial interest or 

wellbeing of one of your other registerable interests then you must declare an  interest. 

You must not participate in discussion or voting on the item and you must withdraw from 

the meeting whilst the matter is discussed.  

 

Wellbeing can be described as a condition of contentedness, healthiness and happiness; 

anything that could be said to affect a person’s quality of life, either positively or 

negatively, is likely to affect their wellbeing. 

Other registrable interests include:  

a) Any unpaid directorships 

b) Any body of which you are a member or are in a position of general control or 

management and to which you are nominated or appointed by your authority. 



- 7 - 
 

 

c) Any body (i) exercising functions of a public nature (ii) directed to charitable 

purposes or (iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public 

opinion or policy (including any political party or trade union) of which you are a 

member or in a position of general control or management. 

 

Members Code – Non-registrable interests  

Where a matter arises at a meeting which directly relates to your financial interest or 

wellbeing (and does not fall under disclosable pecuniary interests), or the financial 

interest or wellbeing of a relative or close associate, you must declare the interest.  

 

In order to determine whether you can remain in the meeting after disclosing your 

interest the following test should be applied:  

Where a matter affects the financial interest or well-being:  

a) to a greater extent than it affects the financial interests of the majority of 

inhabitants of the ward affected by the decision and;  

b) a reasonable member of the public knowing all the facts would believe that it 

would affect your view of the wider public interest. 

 

You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also allowed to speak at 

the meeting. Otherwise you must not take part in any discussion or vote on the matter 

and must not remain in the room unless you have been granted a dispensation. 



 

OXFORDSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES of the meeting held on Tuesday, 21 May 2024 commencing at 10.30 am 

and finishing at 12.00 pm 

 
Present: 

 
Councillor Alison Rooke – in the Chair 
 

Councillors: 
 

Mark Lygo 
Juliette Ash 
Brad Baines 

Hannah Banfield 
David Bartholomew 

Tim Bearder 
Robin Bennett 
Felix Bloomfield 

Liz Brighouse OBE 
Kevin Bulmer 

Nigel Champken-Woods 
Mark Cherry 
Andrew Coles 

Ian Corkin 
Imade Edosomwan 
Trish Elphinstone 

Duncan Enright 
Mohamed Fadlalla 

Arash Fatemian 
 

Neil Fawcett 
Ted Fenton 
Nick Field-Johnson 

Donna Ford 
Andrew Gant 

Andy Graham 
Kate Gregory 
Jane Hanna OBE 

Jenny Hannaby 
Damian Haywood 

Charlie Hicks 
John Howson 
Tony Ilott 

Bob Johnston 
Liz Leffman 
Nick Leverton 

Dan Levy 
Dr Nathan Ley 

Kieron Mallon 
 

Ian Middleton 
Freddie van Mierlo 
Calum Miller 

Michael O'Connor 
Glynis Phillips 

Susanna Pressel 
Eddie Reeves 
G.A. Reynolds 

Judy Roberts 
David Rouane 

Geoff Saul 
Les Sibley 
Nigel Simpson 

Roz Smith 
Ian Snowdon 
Dr Pete Sudbury 

Bethia Thomas 
Michael Waine 

Liam Walker 
 

 

The Council considered the matters, reports and recommendations contained or 
referred to in the agenda for the meeting and decided as set out below.  Except 

insofar as otherwise specified, the reasons for the decisions are contained in the 
agenda and reports, copies of which are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 

 
 

37/24 ELECTION OF CHAIR FOR THE 2024-25 COUNCIL YEAR  
(Agenda Item 1) 

 
The Right Reverend Gavin Collins, Bishop of Dorchester, opened the 

meeting with a prayer. 
 

Before nominations were invited for the office of Chair of the Council, 
Councillor Felix Bloomfield (the retiring Chair) thanked all staff at County 
Hall, the Democratic Services and Facilities Management Teams and his 

Vice-Chair, Councillor Rooke, for their support over the year.  It was noted 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



CC1 
 

that over £8,000 had been raised for the Chair’s chosen charities over the 
year, and the retiring Chair thanked all for their support. 

 
The Monitoring Officer invited nominations for the office of Chair of the 

Council for the 2024/25 Council Year.  Council Leffman moved, and 
Councillor Brighouse seconded that Councillor Alison Rooke be elected as 
Chair of the Council for the 2024/25 Council Year.  There being no other 

nominations and no dissent, Councillor Rooke was duly declared elected. 
 
RESOLVED: (unanimously) that Councillor Alison Rooke be elected as Chair 

for the 2024/25 Council Year. 
 

(Councillor Alison Rooke in the Chair). 
 

38/24 ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR FOR THE 2024-25 COUNCIL YEAR  
(Agenda Item 2) 

 
The Chair called for nominations for the office of Vice-Chair. 

 
Councillor Brighouse moved and Councillor Cherry seconded that Councillor 

Mark Lygo be elected as Vice-Chair of the Council for the 2024/25 Council 
Year.  There being no other nominations, Councillor Mark Lygo was duly 
declared elected Vice-Chair of the Council for the 2024/25 Council Year. 

 
RESOLVED: (unanimously) that Councillor Mark Lygo be elected Vice-Chair 

for the 2024/25 Council Year. 

 

39/24 MINUTES  
(Agenda Item 3) 

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 April 2024 were approved and signed 
as a correct record with the following amendment: 

 
Minute 25/24, on Page 9 should be headed “Motions by Members of the 

Council”. 
 

40/24 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
(Agenda Item 4) 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Gawrysiak, Murphy 
and Povolotsky. 

 
The Chair acknowledged the resignation of Councillor Richard Webber who 

had represented the Sutton Courtenay & Marcham division since 2013.  
Councillor Liz Leffman thanked Councillor Webber for his service for both the 
County Council and for the Vale of the White Horse District Council and 

wished him well. 
 

41/24 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - SEE GUIDANCE NOTE  
(Agenda Item 5) 

 

Page 2



CC1 
 

There were no declarations of interest relating to items for decision at this 
meeting. 

 

42/24 OFFICIAL COMMUNICATIONS  
(Agenda Item 6) 

 
The Chair announced that 15 firefighters who had served residents for a 
combined total of 300 years were presented with His Majesty The King’s long 

service and good conduct medals by the Deputy Lord Lieutenant in a special 
ceremony on Tuesday 30 April at Blenheim Palace.  It was noted that the 

Chair’s events were listed in Annex 1 to the Schedule of Business. 
 
 

43/24 APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda Item 7) 

 
There were none received. 

 

44/24 PETITIONS AND PUBLIC ADDRESS  
(Agenda Item 8) 

 

Petition 
Patricia Ciccone presented a petition signed by 489 people on school 

transport on behalf of Europa School parents.  The petition asked that 
Council reverse the Council’s policy of pushing families out of public-school 
transport and buses and into cars.  It was highlighted that Europa School 

was a state school that offered bilingual education, which made it very 
appealing to the local diverse parent community and called on the Cabinet 

Member responsible and Leader of the Council to start listening to residents 
in Oxfordshire and stop creating blockers to mass transport options and 
engaging youth in using buses. 

 
The Chair advised that the petition would be referred to the relevant Chief 

Officer for response. 
 

45/24 REPORT OF THE CABINET  
(Agenda Item 9) 

 
Council received the report from Cabinet. 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Brad Baines, the Deputy Leader of 
the Council with Responsibility for Climate Change, Environment & Future 

Generations, agreed that in order to mainstream any future framework for 
future generations and tackle the determents of ill health and wellbeing, 
principles should be embedded in policy design, rather than adopted as an 

impact assessment for only some large projects as required by the relevant 
budget line. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Roz Smith, Councillor Pete 
Sudbury advised that the reason the Council chose to lead on climate 

change was to encourage others to do the same. 

Page 3



CC1 
 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Charlie Hicks, Councillor Pete 

Sudbury advised that whilst not in his portfolio responsibility, further 
information would be provided on progress made on issuing climate bonds 

that had been agreed at the last Climate and Finance Conference. 
 
In response to a question from Councillor Glynis Phillips, Councillor Neil 

Fawcett, Cabinet Member for Community & Corporate Services, advised that 
the objective of the proposed Managed Service Recruitment Contract was to 

provide a partnership that would incorporate actions towards reducing 
agency spend. 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Susanna Pressel, Councillor Neil 
Fawcett advised that whilst not an item on the agenda, he would provide 

further information on the assessment of the current HR contract with 
Hampshire. 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Duncan Enright, Councillor Dan 
Levy, Cabinet Member for Finance, agreed that the system for obtaining 

national government funding had many complexities and that it was 
beneficial to work with the local community in sourcing and financing projects 
of benefit to them. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Charlie Hicks, Councillor Dan Levy 

answered that opportunities for new financing models for future capital 
programmes would always be explored from national government funding, 
however there were no immediate plans at this time. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Brad Baines, Councillor Dan Levy 

advised that he would confirm the total amount of the capital programme 
allocated to the delivery of projects attached to S106 contributions and the 
proportion of these that had been delivered to timetable. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Duncan Enright, Councillor Andrew 

Gant, Cabinet Member for Transport Management, agreed that it was just as 
important that the Council’s policies were understood by residents in order 
for them to be implemented to good effect, and he would undertake to 

ensure that greater understanding was provided to ensure that the Council 
lived up to its aspirations in delivering its Vision Zero Strategy. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Calum Miller, Councillor Andrew 
Gant agreed to explore the safe transport of freight vehicles in all wards, as it 

was key to understanding how other road users interacted with freight 
vehicles safely in delivering the Council’s Vision Zero Strategy. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Mark Cherry, Councillor Andrew 
Gant agreed that additional funding was needed for the county’s highway 

network and highlighted the pothole crisis in the county that was caused by 
inefficient central government funding initiatives. 

 

Page 4



CC1 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Susanna Pressel, Councillor 
Andrew Gant advised that he would seek to obtain the information resulting 

from the Police and Crime Commissioner’s review of ensuring that speed 
cameras were adjusted to recognise the 20 mph speed limit areas. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor David Rouane, Councillor Andrew 
Gant advised that whilst he welcomed any initiative that would improve road 

safety and highlighted the safety measures within the Council’s Vision Zero 
Strategy that sought to minimise the interactions between vehicles and 

cyclists, he did not feel that the national government’s road safety initiatives 
targeted at cyclists were appropriate for mitigating road safety. 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Kieron Mallon, Councillor Andrew 
Gant advised that he was not aware that the national figures for reporting 

deaths caused by cyclists were recorded incorrectly and did not believe that 
this was the case. 
 

46/24 CABINET MEMBERSHIP AND DELEGATION OF CABINET 

FUNCTIONS  
(Agenda Item 10) 

 
Under the Council’s constitution, the Leader of the Council was required to 

inform the Annual Meeting of the Council of the delegations made in relation 
to the functions of the Cabinet.  Council received the report from the Leader 

of the Council.   
 
The Leader noted one change to the published report: ‘Responsibility for 

Gypsies and Travellers’ moved to Finance from Public Health, Inequalities & 
Community Safety. 

 
On being moved by the Leader of the Council and seconded by Councillor 
Pete Sudbury, Deputy Leader with responsibility for Climate Change, 

Environment & Future Generations, the recommendation was put to the vote 
of which there were five abstentions and 1 against. 

 
RESOLVED to note the names, addresses and electoral divisions of the 
people appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader of the Council for the 

coming year and their respective portfolios as amended. 

 

47/24 AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT  
(Agenda Item 11) 

 
Council had before it the Annual Report of the Audit & Governance 

Committee which summarised the work that had been undertaken both as a 
committee and through the support of the Audit Working Group in 2023/24.  
Councillor Roz Smith, Chair of the Audit & Governance Committee, moved 

and Councillor Brad Baines, Deputy Chair of the Audit & Governance 
Committee, seconded that Council receive the report. 

 

Page 5



CC1 
 

In response to a question from Councillor Susanna Pressel, Councill Roz 
Smith confirmed that the Council had its own internal fraud team which had 

shown exemplary work in providing detailed reports of all fraud investigations 
to the committee. 

 
RESOLVED: (unanimously) to note the contents of the Annual Report of the 

Audit & Governance Committee 2023/24. 

 

48/24 COMMITTEES AND REVIEW OF POLITICAL BALANCE  
(Agenda Item 12) 

 
The Council was required by the Local Government & Housing Act 1989 to 
review the political balance on its committees on an annual basis.  The 

Council had before it a report which set out how the rules operate and sought 
approval for adjustments which were necessary to achieve the balance 

across and within committees to comply with the rules. 
 
Council noted the list of committee appointments in the revised Annex 1 

attached to the Schedule of Business and two further appointments to 
vacancies proposed at the meeting: 

 

 Planning & Regulation Committee: Councillor Bob Johnston 

 Thames Valley Police & Crime Panel: Councillor Roz Smith 

 
On being moved by Councillor Alison Rooke, seconded by Councillor Mark 

Lygo and being put to the vote: 
 
RESOLVED (unanimously) to: 

 
a) note how the rules to political proportionality have been applied to 

the appointment of Council committees. 
b) appoint members to the committees of the Council and other bodies 

listed at Annex 1 as amended. 

 

49/24 SCHEME OF DELEGATION TO OFFICERS  
(Agenda Item 13) 

 
The Council is required annually to agree the scheme of delegation of 
Council responsibilities to Officers for inclusion in the Council’s Constitution. 

 
In response to a question from Councillor Calum Miller, the Monitoring 
Officer confirmed that any changes to the Council’s Constitution as outlined 

in part 7.2, 6.4(t) would comply with the law and any changes made would be 
reported to the relevant Member body. 

 
On being moved by Councillor Alison Rooke, seconded by Councillor Mark 
Lygo and put to the vote: 

 
RESOLVED (unanimously) to approve the Scheme of Delegation to 

Officers as it relates to Council functions. 

Page 6



CC1 
 

 

50/24 COMMITTEE DATES 2024-25  
(Agenda Item 14) 

 
Council had before it a schedule of committee dates for the 2024/25 Council 

Year which had been approved at its meeting on 6 November 2023.  Since 
that meeting, the Overview & Scrutiny Committee for Education & Young 
People had been formed with five dates proposed, and the dates for the 

Delegated Decisions by the Cabinet Member for Finance changed as 
highlighted in the Annex to the report.   

 
On being moved by Councillor Alison Rooke, seconded by Councillor Mark 
Lygo and put to the vote: 

 
RESOLVED (unanimously) to: 

 
a) approve the schedule of meetings for the 2024-25 Council Year for 

the Education & Young People Overview & Scrutiny Committee in 

Annex 1; 
b) note the changed dates for Delegated Decisions by the Cabinet 

Member for Finance in Annex 1; 
c) note the other dates as approved by Council on 7 November 2023 in 

Annex 1.    

 
 
…………………………………………………..  in the Chair 

 
Date of signing ………………………………………………. 

 
 
 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Divisions- N/A 
 

COUNTY COUNCIL – 9 July 2024 
 

REPORT OF THE CABINET 
 

 

Cabinet Member : Leader of the Council 

 

1. Oxfordshire Councils Charter 
      (Cabinet: 14 May 2024) 

 
Cabinet had before it a report on the proposed Oxfordshire Councils Charter.  The 
County Council had been working in partnership with the Oxfordshire Association of 

Local Councils (OALC), district and city councils, town and parish councils, and parish 
meetings to strengthen partnership working across local councils in Oxfordshire.  

 

Through a multi-organisational working group, an Oxfordshire Councils Charter had 
been developed which set out the principles and commitments to achieve stronger 

partnership working and enhanced local democracy.  

 
Cabinet approved the recommendations to endorse and be a signatory to the 

Charter. 

 

2. Appointments 2024-25 
           (Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

 

Cabinet had before it a report recommending member appointments to a variety of 

bodies which in different ways supported the discharge of the Council’s executive 

functions. The report reflected the basis on which appointments to the respective 

bodies have been made in the past and, subject to any adjustments that would be 

considered appropriate, invited the Cabinet to agree arrangements for filling the 

councillor places on those bodies. 

 

Cabinet agreed to the recommended appointments for 2024-25. 

 

3. Oxfordshire County Council's Productivity Plan 
      (Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 
 
A report that recommended the approval of Oxfordshire County Council's productivity 

plan was received by Cabinet. The plan was a response to the DLUHC's request for 
councils to share their current plans to transform services, use technology and data, 

reduce costs and identify efficiency challenges. The plans were a requirement for all 
councils as part of the Government’s 2024/25 Local Government Finance 
Settlement. 

 
The Council had also produced a document which pointed out the areas where 

central government action could remove barriers to efficiency, such as inconsistent Page 9

Agenda Item 9



 

and short-term funding, complex and overlapping rules, and lack of freedom and 
independence. 

 
Cabinet approved the plan and extra document for submission to the Department for 
Levelling Up, Housing and Communities. 

 
 

4. Oxfordshire County Council to become a Council of Sanctuary 
    (Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

Cabinet considered a report recommending that the Council worked towards 

submitting an application to become a recognised Council of Sanctuary, as proposed 

in a motion passed by full council in November 2023. The report outlined what it 

meant to be a Council of Sanctuary, the policy implications, and the progress made 

against the other resolutions in the motion to Council. 

Cabinet was addressed by three representatives of the Asylum Welcome charity who 

spoke in support of the proposals in the report. 

Cabinet approved the recommendations in the report and agreed that the Council 

should work towards submitting an application to become a recognised Council of 
Sanctuary. 

 
 

5. Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement 
(Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

Cabinet had before it a report recommending approval of a Modern Slavery and 

Human Trafficking Statement.   

Cabinet approved the statement which outlined the council's commitment and 

actions to prevent modern slavery in its work and supply chains, as required by the 

Modern Slavery Act 2015 for commercial organisations with a turnover of over £36 

million. The statement summarised the council's existing policies and procedures 

around pay and recruitment, safeguarding vulnerable children and adults, and 

procurement processes, as well as the training and awareness-raising activities for 

staff and suppliers. 

 

6. Period Poverty Scheme Trial 
(Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

Cabinet had before it a report which updated members on the progress made on the 

period poverty motion passed by the Council in September 2023, and recommended 

a trial scheme to provide free period products to residents using £10,000 from the 

cost-of-living programme funding. 

Cabinet approved the allocation of funding from the cost-of-living programme funding 

for a trial scheme of period products to support residents experiencing period 

poverty. Page 10



 

Cabinet Member: Community & Corporate Services 
 

7. Customer Experience Strategy 
(Cabinet: 14 May 2024) 

 
Cabinet had before it a report on the proposed Customer Experience Strategy. 
Improving customer experience was a key area of focus for the organisation. A wide-

ranging programme of work was in place to ensure that interactions with customers 
were of a consistently high standard and a customer-first approach was at the heart 

of everything the council does.   
 
Cabinet approved the strategy the aim of which was to demonstrate to customers 

that the Council was putting them first and to ensure everyone across the council 
understood the importance of good and consistent customer service regardless of 

their role. The strategy would apply to all council employees. 
 

8. Workforce Report and Staffing Data - Quarter 4 2023-24 
(Cabinet: 14 May 2024) 

 
Cabinet noted a report which provided the workforce profile for quarter 4 2023/24 
including an overview of headcount, agency spend, sickness, turnover and other 

relevant management information and performance indicators The report also 
provided an update on the Council’s Our People & Culture strategy which aimed to 
address the trends identified in the report, but importantly help the Council’s ambitions 

to become an Employer of Choice.  
 

 
 

Cabinet Member: Finance 
 
9. Financial Monitoring Report (updates on funding and any 

other budget changes for 2024/25 since February 2024) 
(Cabinet: 14 May 2024) 

 
 
Cabinet had before it a report which set out updates to funding notified since the 
2024/25 budget was agreed as well as updates and risks which would need to be 
managed in 2024/25 and the arrangements for monitoring progress with investments 

and the achievement of savings.   
 

Cabinet approved the financial adjustments and noted the anticipated reduction in 
business rates funding of £0.7m in 2024/25 compared to the assumptions in the 
budget, and the proposed use of additional business rates income notified in late 

2023/24 to replace this. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

Page 11



 

10. Annual Performance Report and Provisional Revenue Outturn 
2023/24 
(Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

 
 
Cabinet considered a report presenting the council’s annual performance report and 
provisional year- end finance position for 2023/24. The annual report reflected the 

end of year position against the corporate priorities, and budget documents 
supporting the Council’s ambitions and priorities. The Strategic Plan agreed by 

Council in February 2022 set out the Council’s ambitions for 2023/24. 
 
Members referred to the considerable achievements of the Council against its 

strategic objectives but recognised that there were some areas in which 
improvement was needed. There had been significant improvement in the financial 

position in Children’s and Adults’ services, in particular.   
 
Cabinet noted the annual performance report and the summary of the provisional 

year - end financial position for 2023/24. 
 

11. Capital Outturn Report 2023/24 
(Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

 

The Council’s ten-year Capital Programme set out the agreed capital investment to 
deliver the priorities identified in the Capital and Investment Strategy.  This report 

updated members on the performance against the programme shown in the latest 
monitoring report for 2023/24 and also compared back to the capital programme 
agreed by Council in February 2023.   

The report summarised the main areas of expenditure including the Pupil Place Plan, 

Major Infrastructure, Highways Asset Management Plan, Property Strategy, and IT, 

Digital & Innovation Strategy. 

Cabinet noted the report and approved the creation of a new reserve to support the 

development of green financing and to make an initial contribution of £1.0m funded 

from the interest released at the end of 2023/24. This was to help the council 

achieve its climate action goals and invest in low-carbon projects. 

12. Capital Programme Approvals - June 2024 
       (Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

 
 

Cabinet had before it a report which set out change requests requiring Cabinet 
approval that will be incorporated into the agreed programme and included in the 
next update to the Capital Programme in June 2024. 

 
Cabinet approved the inclusion of the additional schemes for the A4130 Rowstock 

Roundabout to Stenton Lights, the Abingdon National Cycle Network Route 5 
(NCN5) Missing Link, Grove Church of England Primary School Expansion and 
Union Street Phase1.5 & 2. 
 
 

 Page 12



 

Cabinet Member: Transport Management 
 

13. Oxfordshire Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) - Update 
for 2024 
(Cabinet: 18 June 2024) 

Cabinet had before it a report presenting an updated Oxfordshire Bus Service 

Improvement Plan (BSIP). The updated BSIP outlined the vision, aims and proposals 

for improving bus services in Oxfordshire from 2025 to 2030. It was a requirement for 

receiving the final instalment of BSIP funding from the Department for Transport and 

it was produced in collaboration with bus operators and stakeholders. 

Cabinet approved adoption of the updated BSIP and delegated authority for sign off 

on future updates to the Director of Transport and Infrastructure in consultation with 

the Cabinet Member for Transport Management.  

 
Cabinet Member: Public Health, Inequalities and Community Safety 
 
14. Cost of Living programme for 2024/25 

(Cabinet: 14 May 2024) 

 
Cabinet had before it a report setting out the intended approach to support those 
residents who were most negatively impacted by cost-of-living pressures over the 

current financial year, assigning additional funding provided by national government 
after local 2024/25 budget setting processes, in the context of locally assigned 
funding. It provided the latest position on the impact of the cost of living, as well as 

providing a summary outturn report on the 2023/24 support programme. In March 
2024 the government announced a fifth round of the Household Support Fund 

running for the first six months of 2024/25.  

 
Cabinet approved the support package for 2024/25 and delegated authority to the 

Programme Director (Partnerships & Delivery) in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Public Health, Inequalities and Community Safety, to amend the 

programme during the year in response to changing and emerging need, within the 
overall programme budget. 
 

15. Reports received from Scrutiny Committees 
          (Cabinet: 14 May and 18 June 2024) 

 
Cabinet received the following Scrutiny reports and will respond in due course. 

 
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee on s106 and Infrastructure Funding Update 
 

People Overview and Scrutiny Committee on Adult Social Care CQC Assurance 
Update 

  
Place Overview and Scrutiny Committee on Circular Economy Strategy. 
 

 
 Page 13



 

LIZ LEFFMAN 

Leader of the Council      July 2024 

Page 14



 

Divisions Affected – All  

 
 

COUNCIL 

9 JULY 2024 
 

Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

Annual Report 2023/24  
 

Report by Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. Council is RECOMMENDED to: -  

 
Receive and NOTE the Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s 

Annual Report set out in Annex 1.   

Executive Summary 

 

2. The Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee is under a constitutional duty to 
prepare an annual report. That report is set out in Annex 1 and documents the 
breadth and depth of the Committee’s work over the 2023/24 municipal year.    

Background 

 

3. Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Regulation 28(1) of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee has a duty to 

“review and scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and 
operation of the health services in its area”. 

 
4. As part of this overarching duty it has a duty, set out in the Council’s 

Constitution, to report on its activity over the preceding year in the form of an 

annual report.  

Corporate Priorities 

 
5. Improving health and wellbeing of residents and reducing health inequalities are 

stated ambitions within the Council’s Strategic Plan.   
 
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 10



Financial Implications 

 
6. There are no financial implications arising directly from this report and it is 

expected that any additional costs relating to co-optees or advisors can be 
met within existing budgets.   

 
Comments checked by: Kathy Wilcox 
 

Kathy Wilcox, Head of Corporate Finance and Deputy Section 151 
Officer.  kathy.wilcox@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

Legal Implications 

 

7. Part 6.1B, paragraph 23 of the Council’s constitution relating to The 
Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee states that “The 

Committee shall produce in April each year a report for the Appointing 
Authorities on its activities during the preceding year. That report shall also be 
published to health bodies and the public."  

 
Whilst acknowledging that this report has been produced after April, it fulfils 

that responsibility.  
 
Comments checked by: Paul Grant 

 
Paul Grant, Head of Legal and Deputy Monitoring Officer. 

 
(Paul.grant@oxfordshire.gov.uk) 

Staff Implications 

 
8. None arising from this report.  

Equality & Inclusion Implications 

 

9. None arising from this report.  

Sustainability Implications 

 

10. None arising from this report.   

Consultations 

 
11. None arising from this report.   
 

Anita Bradley  
Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer  

 
Annex: 1 - HOSC Annual Report 2023/24 

Page 16

mailto:kathy.wilcox@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 
Background papers: None   
 

Other Documents: None   
 

Contact Officer: Dr Omid Nouri, Health Scrutiny Officer, 
omid.nouri@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

 
July 2024 

Page 17

mailto:omid.nouri@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Oxfordshire Joint 
Health Overview 
Scrutiny Committee 
(JHOSC)

July 2024

Annual Report 

2023/24 
Page 19



2

This annual report comes after a year of 
unprecedented and increasing challenges for 
health services including rising health demands 
as well as rising pressures in most areas 
(particularly in areas where there is a workforce 
shortage). These are national issues which the 
Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview Scrutiny 
Committee (JHOSC) has scrutinised locally. 
Some patients have inevitably faced delays and 
disruption to the quality of their care.  

The JHOSC drew attention to the shortfall in the 
workforce before the pandemic and all pressures 
have significantly worsened since then. Some 
health workers will inevitably be continuing 
to work above and beyond their expected 
responsibilities. The JHOSC has therefore 
become more heavily involved in the scrutiny 
of healthcare services in light of some of the 
recent challenges, but it has also sought to act 
as a “critical friend” toward the individuals and 
organisations responsible for providing health 
services to local residents, including the county 
council, the BOB Integrated Care Board (ICB), 
Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust, Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, and 
the newly created Oxfordshire Place-Based 
Partnership, as leaders of the local system work 
together to plan and deliver improvements. 

The county councillors on the committee have 
served on both the Oxfordshire JHOSC and on 
the three-county health scrutiny committee 
(known as the Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire, and 
Berkshire West JHOSC, referred to as BOB HOSC), 
and have contributed to detailed scrutiny on the 
ICB strategy overall and on both the ICB’s primary 
care strategy and its digital and data strategy.

The JHOSC has also worked hard to build much 
stronger relationships with many key individuals 
and organisations within the Oxfordshire 
system for the purposes of facilitating effective 

and healthy forms of scrutiny and partnership 
working; the aim of which is to help work with 
system partners to improve the healthcare 
services that Oxfordshire’s residents receive. 

It is vital that HOSCs are able to work effectively 
within local systems and with good relationships, 
and the JHOSC has relied on this for the purposes 
of pursuing effective healthcare outcomes for 
the local population. This also helped to achieve 
detailed scrutiny reviews which had proven 
valuable not merely from a scrutiny perspective 
but also for the wider system. The work of this 
significant body of democratic scrutiny is only 
possible because of extensive engagements, and 
our thanks go to all colleagues from the health 
and social care system who have supported the 
JHOSC’s work including local NHS leaders and 
cabinet members and officers from the county 
council who have reported to and spoken to the 
committee who are listed on the following page:

NHS
Susannah Butt (Transformation Director - 
Community Health Services, Dentistry and 
Primary Care, Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust)

Rachel Corser (Chief Nursing Officer, 
Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West Integrated Care Board)

1 Chair’s  
introduction

“The JHOSC has also worked 
hard to build much stronger 
relationships with many key 
individuals and organisations within 
the Oxfordshire system.”

Page 20



3

Julie Dandridge (Deputy Director, 
Buckinghamshire Oxfordshire and Berkshire 
West Integrated Care Board)

David Eltringham (Chief Executive, South 
Central Ambulance Service)

Lucy Fenton (Transformation Lead – Primary, 
Community & Dental Care Oxford Heath NHS 
Foundation Trust)

Lisa Glynn (Director of Services, Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)

Daniel Leveson (Place Director, Berkshire, 
Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Integrated 
Care Board)

Hugh O’Keefe (Senior Programme Manager 
- Pharmacy, Optometry and Dental Services, 
BOB ICB) 

Dr Ben Riley (Managing Director, Oxford 
Health NHS Foundation Trust)

Sam Shepard (Deputy Director of Strategy 
& Partnerships, Oxford University Hospitals 
NHS FT)

Eileen Walsh (Chief Assurance Officer, Oxford 
University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust)

Oxfordshire County Council
Ansaf Azhar (Director of Public Health, 
Oxfordshire County Council)

Cllr Tim Bearder (Cabinet Member for Adult 
Social Care) 

Liz Brighouse (Former Cabinet Member 
for Children, Education and Young People’s 
Services)

Cllr Michael O’Connor (Former Cabinet 
Member for Public Health)

Stephen Chandler (Executive Director for 
People, Oxfordshire County Council)

Cllr Kate Gregory (Cabinet Member for Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities)

Cllr John Howson (Cabinet Member for 
Children, Education and Young People’s 
Services)

Karen Fuller (Director of Adult Social Care, 
Oxfordshire County Council)

Cllr Nathan Ley (Cabinet Member for Public 
Health)

Page 21



4

Additionally, I would like to express thanks to 
the following individuals who comprised the 
membership of the JHOSC within the previous 
year, all of whom have invested time and effort 
into the work of the committee:

District Cllr Elizabeth Poskitt  
(Vice-Chair 2023-2024)

Cllr Jenny Hannaby

Cllr Nick Leverton

Cllr Nigel Champken-Woods

Cllr Freddie Van Mierlo

Cllr Michael OConnor

Cllr Mark Lygo

Cllr Damian Haywood

District Cllr Lesley McLean

District Cllr Paul Barrow

City Cllr Sandy Douglas

District Cllr Katharine Keats-Rohan

Barbara Shaw

Siama Ahmed

The committee has made 81 formal 
recommendations to the NHS as well as 
Oxfordshire County Council’s cabinet within 
the last civic year. The JHOSC had issued these 
recommendations in the form of reports which 
outlined key feedback themes on policies as 
well as proposals. The vast majority of these 
81 recommendations had been accepted, and 
they relate to key areas ranging from (although 
not exclusively on) general practice provision, 
dentistry, CAHMS and children’s emotional 
wellbeing and mental health services, children’s 
SEND provision, ambulance services, support for 
people leaving hospital, and on healthy weight 
promotion. 

One important example was that in line with 
the JHOSC’s recommendation, the ICB recruited 
a dedicated estates post to work with district 
councils on the use of significant funds already 
held for the NHS and to claim health funding 
for new developments. The committee also 

made recommendations again following our 
in-depth workshop and scrutiny review last year 
on primary care that the overdue GP practice 
development at Great Western Park is established 
with urgency, and the committee welcomed the 
significant progress announced that the ICB had 
approved the business case with the additional 
funding needed so that a new GP premises can be 
progressed for the growing population. 

Another example was the identification of 
the serious underspend for NHS dentistry in 
Oxfordshire, and the need for flexible measures, 
particularly for rural areas of the county and 
vulnerable populations that have been worst 
affected, and for the ICB and NHS England to 
reinvest any underspends in Oxfordshire at place. 

Furthermore, within the previous civic year as 
of 1 February 2024, HOSC’s have lost the power 
to formally refer matters to the Secretary of 
State for Health and Social Care. Although, 
HOSCs may still informally write letters to the 
secretary of state to raise any concerns they 
may have regarding local health services. Whilst 
the committee tried to influence a formal 
consultation on this change, it was successful 
locally in encouraging and scrutinising co-
production and public engagement between 
the NHS and the Wantage Town Council Health 

“The committee has made 81 
formal recommendations to the 
NHS as well as Oxfordshire County 
Council’s cabinet within the last 
civic year.”

Page 22



5

Committee and local community on the future of 
Wantage Community Hospital. In 2024, there is 
ongoing co-production on a major refurbishment 
of the hospital by 2025 with delivery of 
outpatient clinics, a new long term conditions 
clinic, and other local improvements.

Whilst the JHOSC’s focus is on understanding 
local services and impacts and on opportunities 
for local improvements, the committee had 
received a response from government to our local 
findings with recommendations on primary care 
and from the parliamentary select committees 
regarding national scrutiny on new medicines 
regulations for people with bipolar and epilepsy 
disorder. The committee is awaiting a response 
to our August 2023 letter concerning deep 
concerns and key measures that could be taken 
around dentistry provision, and welcomes the 
recent dentistry report to the committee that 
includes government plans for developing local 
consultations on fluoridation. 

I believe we are a great and maturing team 
with an increasingly good overview as to the 
factors which affect the provision of healthcare 
across Oxfordshire. I would like to put on record 
particular thanks to Cllr Elizabeth Poskitt as vice-
chair over the last year. With other departures, 
the committee also said goodbye to its 
longstanding and deeply appreciated co-opted 
member, Jean Bradlow. The people of Oxford are 
fortunate to have had such a knowledgeable and 
hard-working champion working on their behalf, 
though the committee is acutely aware that there 
are many people who support them behind the 
scenes too.

The fundamental purpose of the JHOSC is to 
provide democratic oversight into the provision 
of our health services. I would like to express 
thanks to Health Watch Oxfordshire, as the 
committee benefits from unique insights 
from their work with the public and with the 
Oxfordshire Place Committee, which are helpful 
at every JHOSC meeting. The committee 
welcomes and is thankful for the members 
of the public that have given up their time to 
speak or to write to the committee, and for the 

engagement from public local stakeholders and 
groups and local councillors. 

Particular thanks also goes to Dr Omid Nouri, 
the health scrutiny officer, who, has dedicated 
exceptional effort into supporting the committee 
and the process of health scrutiny more broadly. 
The increased investment by the council in the 
scrutiny function has resulted in increased value 
and impact and support. 

 �Councillor Jane Hanna OBE  
Chair of the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee 2023/24

Page 23



6

22  About the  
committee

The Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (JHOSC) is a joint 
committee of Oxfordshire County Council. Is it fundamentally a scrutiny 
committee that conducts health scrutiny on behalf of the council and is 
comprised of 15 members. 

The committee’s membership is derived 
from Oxfordshire County Council members, 
as well as members from the city and district 
councils within Oxfordshire (Cherwell, 
Oxford City, South Oxfordshire, Vale of White 
Horse, West Oxfordshire). In addition, the 
JHOSC contains spaces for three members 
who are not councillors but who may have 
extensive exposure or expertise related to 
the health remit of the committee; these are 
referred to as co-optees. Currently, one of 
these posts remains filled by Barbara Shaw, 
although work is underway to secure two 
further co-optees.

The JHOSC is not a decision making body 
of the council. In other words, it does not 
possess the ability to make or amend 
policies directly. As a scrutiny body, the 
JHOSC’s purpose is to engage in scrutiny 
of any matter relating to the development 
and delivery of health services throughout 
Oxfordshire. Hence, the committee has the 
power to summon before it any individuals or 
organisations involved in the commissioning 
or the delivery of health services throughout 

the county. The committee benefits from, 
and can harness the expertise, knowledge 
and understanding of the diversity of its 
members to not only ensure effective 
oversight over health services, but also to 
do so in a manner that contributes and adds 
value toward policies and decisions. Hence, 
the true power of the JHOSC lies in its ability 
to issue, as per the Health and Social 

Page 24



7

Care Act and the Local Government Act, 
recommendations to the NHS or Oxfordshire 
County Council as to how health services 
could be improved for residents. In doing 
so, the committee seeks to, in as much as 
possible, issue recommendations that are 
viable, reasonable, and that also adhere to 
the SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, 
realistic, timely) criteria. The JHOSC issues 
recommendations to cabinet or to local NHS 
commissioners or providers, and recipients 
of such recommendations are required to 
provide a written response to the committee 
within 28 days.

The JHOSC also uses its soft power as a means 
to shed light on where national constraints limit 
local improvements, and where possible, raises 
local concerns with the national government 
as a means of seeking further support for 
improving services at the local level.

The committee’s power is also to give 
improved clarity to where local improvements 
are constrained by national powers, resource 
and guidance; the committee has been able 
in these cases to make these local 
findings and correspond with 
government to seek support for 
local improvements. This has 
particularly been the case 
in relation to the national 
challenges around general 
practice and dentistry provision 
in light of the increased demand  
for such services.

Page 25



8

3 Summary of activity 
HOSC activity in brief 

The committee convened seven public meetings throughout 
the course of the last municipal year. This exceeds the minimal 
requirement of five public meetings for each municipal year. Over 
the course of these meetings it has scrutinised 21 substantive items 
this municipal year. Some of the key items of scrutiny involved:

	– Winter planning

	– Local area partnership  
SEND provision

	– Oxfordshire healthy weight

	– Health and wellbeing strategy.

	– Children’s emotional wellbeing and  
mental health.

	– Oxfordshire Place-Based Partnership. 

	– The future of Wantage Community Hospital.

	– Support for people leaving hospital.

	– South Central Ambulance Service CQC 
improvement journey.

	– John Radcliffe Hospital CQC  
improvement journey.

	– Director of Public Health Annual Report.

	– General practice provision in Oxfordshire.

	– Dentistry provision in Oxfordshire.

	– Oxford University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust People Plan.

Within the past civic year, the committee has 
issued 85 formal recommendations to the NHS 
as well as Oxfordshire County Council’s cabinet. 
Of these 85 recommendations, 60 were accepted, 
eight were partially accepted, and two rejected. 

15 of these recommendations were issued during 
the 18 April 2024 meeting, and the JHOSC is 
awaiting responses to these.

The committee has also received briefings from 
the NHS on a few areas including:

	– An online as well as a written briefing 
on the Warneford Park Hospital 
Redevelopment Project.

	– An online briefing on the Oxford Community 
Health Hubs Project.

	– A written briefing on the ICB’s efforts to 
secure the future of local GP services in 
Botley and Kennington.

	– A written briefing on the closure of short 
stay hub beds in Chiltern Court.

The committee’s substantial change working 
group had also met three times within the last 
civic year to discuss the recommendations 
it was issuing to the wider JHOSC as to the 
future of Wantage Community Hospital. This 
working group also held three online check-in 
briefings with representatives from the ICB and 
Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust for the 
purposes of receiving updates on the NHS’s 
public engagement exercise around the future of 
Wantage Community Hospital. 

Page 26



9

Key accomplishments
The HOSC has invested immense effort into 
engaging in the scrutiny of a variety of areas 
which involved important developments and 
decisions which have significant impacts on the 
health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire’s residents. 
Throughout the course of the previous municipal 
year, committee has adopted a holistic approach 
to health and wellbeing, and this in line with 
national as well as local efforts to further 
integrate health and care services for residents as 
well as to focus on a broader model of health and 
wellbeing. 

Nonetheless, a good indication of the HOSC’s 
success is also the impact of its work in 
contributing to developments that could have 
positive outcomes for the health and wellbeing of 
Oxfordshire’s residents.

i. Securing the future of Wantage 
Community Hospital:

The committee has been engaged in ongoing 
scrutiny of the future of Wantage Community 
Hospital since the ‘temporary’ closure of the 
inpatient beds 2016. The loss of HOSCs’ powers to 
refer matters to the Secretary of State in January 
2024, however, put a hard deadline on one of 
the committee’s possible options to resolve the 
situation, meaning this has been an area where 
HOSC has invested significant time and effort, 
with positive outcomes for all stakeholders.

The committee was at the forefront of 
recommending the launch of a public 
engagement exercise with key stakeholders 
and local residents for the purposes of securing 
as well as co-producing a plan for the future 
of hospital like services to be delivered on 
the ground floor of Wantage Community 
Hospital. The committee’s substantial change 
working group held 3 check-in meetings with 
Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust and the 
ICB throughout the course of the NHS’s public 
engagement exercise to receive updates on the 

format and the effectiveness of the exercise. The 
working group itself convened twice throughout 
the course of the exercise to determine the 
recommendations it would make to the wider 
committee as to the decisions over whether to 
refer the matter of the closure of the inpatient 
beds to the Secretary of State for Health and 
Social Care. The powers of HOSCs to formally 
refer matters to the Secretary of State were to 
cease at the end of January 2024, however, the 
committee chose to abstain from referring this 
matter to the Secretary of State on the condition 
that the NHS would honour its commitments 
to securing the future of the ground floor of 
the hospital by providing a multitude of clinical 
outpatient services that would benefit the health 
needs of the local community.

The committee played a crucial role in working 
closely with the NHS to secure the future of 
hospital-like services in Wantage Community 
Hospital, and contributed to the development 
of a project delivery plan which determines 
the steps that would be taken at each stage 
of the process of expanding the outpatient 
clinical services provided at the hospital. The 
chair and health scrutiny officer have fed into 
the Wantage Community Hospital Governance 
and Oversight Group, which includes key 
representatives of Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust, the ICB, Oxfordshire County 
Council, and the local primary care network. 
This has helped to ensure ongoing scrutiny and 
oversight of the project delivery plan to ensure 
that it remains on schedule. The committee 

Page 27



10

also made recommendations for, and has been 
at the forefront of supporting the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding available from 
the Vale of the White Horse District Council 
for the purposes of financing the expansion of 
the aforementioned services. The committee 
issued the following recommendations as part 
of securing the future of Wantage Community 
Hospital, all of which were fully accepted by  
the NHS:

1. �That there is no undue delay in securing the 
CIL funding available in full for the purposes 
of providing the additional proposed clinical 
services on the ground floor of Wantage 
Community Hospital given the removal of the 
in-patient beds since 2016. It is recommended 
that there is a maximisation of the ground floor 
of the hospital for the purposes of expanding a 
mix of specialist outpatient clinics.

2. �That the project delivery plan for the future of 
the hospital’s ground floor services is delivered 
on schedule as much as possible, and that 
there is ongoing scrutiny over the process of 
delivering the plan and its outcomes for the 
local population.

3. �For a meeting to be convened as early as 
possible between identified leads within BOB 
ICB, Wantage PCN, Oxford University Hospitals 
NHS Foundation Trust, Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust, Oxfordshire County Council, 
Wantage Town Council, and HOSC; with a 

view to plan for continued momentum on 
co-production and agreed scrutiny moving 
forward.

The JHOSC has played a crucial role in supporting 
and overseeing the co-production around the 
future of the hospital, and continues to engage 
in ongoing scrutiny over the delivery plan for this 
project. This case was indicative of the strong 
role of the committee in helping to achieve a 
resolution over the Hospital’s future, which had 
remained unresolved for several years.

ii. The reconvening of the Buckinghamshire, 
Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(BOB JHOSC)

During the previous municipal year, the 
committee has been involved in orchestrating the 
reconvening of the BOB JHOSC. The BOB JHOSC 
is comprised of councillors from Oxfordshire 
County Council, in addition to the local 
authorities of Buckinghamshire, West Berkshire, 
Wokingham and Reading. This JHOSC has a 
renewed emphasis and commitment to engage in 
system-level scrutiny of the BOB the Integrated 
Care System, as opposed to developments 
at ‘place’ (county) level which are examined 
primarily by the OJHOSC. The BOB JHOSC also 
examines system level developments that would 
collectively impact all the member authorities. 

As well as receiving an update on the Integrated 
Care Board’s (ICB) new priorities, the BOB JHOSC 
has been involved in the scrutiny of two key ICB 
strategies: 

 –    �Primary care strategy: which aims to improve 
and transform the ways in which general 
practice, community pharmacy, optometry, 
and dentistry services are delivered under the 
BOB footprint.

 –    �Digital and data strategy: which outlines 
and will guide the ICB’s digital, data and 
technology ambitions for the forthcoming 
three years.

Page 28



11

Prior to the public meeting of the BOB JHOSC 
on 24 January 2024, the chair of the Oxfordshire 
JHOSC and health scrutiny officer participated 
in a BOB JHOSC working group meeting to 
develop and agree on a feedback report which 
was submitted to the ICB in relation to the digital 
and data strategy. A separate feedback report 
was also submitted to the ICB in relation to the 
primary care strategy. Below are some key points 
of feedback that the BOB JHOSC (through the 
active contribution of the OJHOSC) provided to 
the ICB in relation to both strategies:

 –    �Primary care strategy: It was recommended 
that further and continuous public and 
stakeholder engagement was crucial as part of 
the design of the strategy; and that the public 
and key stakeholders should have a role in 
being able to feed back into the process of 
evaluating the delivery of the strategy. It was 
also emphasised that the ICB should seek to 
learn from best practice elsewhere; this could 
involve learning from how other systems have 
managed increases in demand for primary 
care, as well as how primary care has been at 
the forefront of prevention work for long-term 
conditions. Further emphasis was also placed 
on the imperative for transparency over both 
the extent to which physician associates or 
administrative staff are involved in the triaging 
or treatment of patients, as well as over the 
existence of any competency frameworks that 
are being adopted to maximise patient safety 
and reassurance. 

 –    �Digital and data strategy: It was 
recommended by the BOB JHOSC that there 
are clear governance processes around 
the use of technology and data sharing 
on the context of healthcare services; 
and that there is continuous stakeholder 
engagement as well as clear evidence of 
good collaboration with and between 
adult social care, mental health providers, 
hospital trusts, and providers across primary 
care. The BOB JHOSC also fed back and 
strongly recommended that there were clear 
timescales as part of the phased delivery of 
the digital and data strategy, and that explicit 

key performance indicators are established 
for the purposes of monitoring and 
evaluating the deliverability of the strategy. 

iii. Warneford Park Hospital  
redevelopment project:

A key development the committee has been 
involved in is the project to redevelop Warneford 
Park Mental Hospital. It is important to note 
that poor mental health in the UK continues 
to pose social and economic effects, yet it has 
not received the same level of resources and 
investment when compared with physical health 
conditions. It is also the case that since the 
advent of the COVID-19 pandemic as well as the 
cost of living crisis, mental ill health has seen an 
increase. Therefore, and as part of the JHOSC’s 
holistic approach to health and wellbeing, 
the committee has been involved in ongoing 
scrutiny of, and has been actively supporting the 
ambitions of Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 
to embark on a bid for government funding to 
support a project to redevelop and modernise 
the hospital. 

The Warneford Park Hospital has been treating 
local residents suffering poor mental health 
for over two centuries. However, it has become 
increasingly difficult for clinical staff to support 
patients with effective therapeutic activities, 
particularly in light of recent clinical emphasis 
on the importance of positive therapeutic 
environments and activities for aiding patient 
recovery. 

The project involves a ‘Warneford Park Campus’ 
proposal, which is part of a joint venture 
between Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust 

Page 29



12

and Oxford University. The ambition is to seek 
government funding to help establish a state-
of-the-art mental health hospital offering 
the best therapies, care, and therapeutic 
environment. This would be co-located with a 
global brain-health research facility as well as an 
on-site college to educate future postgraduate 
researchers and clinicians. The JHOSC has 
received a written briefing on this redevelopment 
proposal and project, and five members of 
the committee (alongside the health scrutiny 
officer) conducted a site visit at the Warneford 
on 30 January 2024. The visit helped shed light 
on the importance and timeliness of this project 
given the increasingly ageing and untherapeutic 
environment that patients were being treated 
in, as well as a constructive challenge that was 
welcomed on how the development would be 
integrated with community based provision 
across Oxfordshire for people with serious 
mental health needs.

It is vital that Oxford Health NHS Foundation 
Trust receives support from the JHOSC for the 
purposes of securing government funding for 
this redevelopment project, and the committee 
is in the process of providing its endorsement. 
However, the committee has set a number of 
conditions as part of its endorsements for the 
redevelopment:

1. �That adequate reassurances should be 
provided that in the event of the necessary 
funding being provided by government, the 
project can proceed without significant 
obstacles or delays.

2. �That there is sufficient engagement with key 
stakeholders around the redevelopment 
project and proposals.

3. �That the Warneford development in Oxford 
City is integrated in a hub and spoke model 
and plan, through which working with partners 
and communities, provides prevention and 
rehabilitation to residents with serious mental 
health conditions in local communities across 
Oxfordshire. 

4. �That any negative impacts that the 
redevelopment of the hospital may have 
on patients during the duration of the 
redevelopment are minimised.

iv. General practice provision in 
Oxfordshire:

A key and continued area of focus for the 
committee remains the state of GP provision 
within the county. The chair and health scrutiny 
officer have held meetings with the ICB’s director 
of place for Oxfordshire on two occasions in 

Page 30



13

the last municipal year to discuss the state of 
GP services and the importance of meeting the 
increased demand for such services. In November 
2023, the committee requested a response to the 
recommendations previously issued to the ICB:

That specified roles are filled within 
the ICB with the primary responsibility 
to work with district councils at place 
level to coordinate the use of CIL funds 
held by the ICB and from executed 
section 106 funds for primary care.
The ICB confirmed that they had recruited 
a primary care estates manager who would 
play a key role in working with city and district 
councils in terms of planning for new housing 
developments. Such housing developments have 
been resulting in an increase in population and 
demand for GP services in many parts of the 
county, including the Didcot area. 

In regards to the Didcot area, the JHOSC was 
particularly concerned that demand was not 
being met, and therefore strongly urged the 
ICB to take action to address this. However, the 
committee strongly supported and was pleased 
to see that the ICB had approved the business 
case for a new building and that it agreed to 
provide funding in addition to the money from 
developer contributions known as section 106 
funding. The Woodlands Medical Centre will 
manage the estate as a branch surgery. The 
JHOSC had also convened a public meeting item 
on GP provision during its 18 April 2024 meeting, 
during which it issued a recommendation to the 
ICB that an expected date for the signing of the 
legal agreement on the Didcot Western Park site 
is provided to the committee, so that there can 
be reassurances to both the JHOSC as well as 
the wider public as to the likely timescale for the 
tendering process. 

As part of its ongoing scrutiny of GP provision, 
the committee also recommended that the ICB 
checks which practices are closing e-connect 
and telephone requests for urgent appointments 
and for what reasons. This recommendation 

was crucial given the increasing difficulties 
residents have been experiencing in being able 
to communicate with practices in order to book 
appointments. The JHOSC has urged the ICB for 
there to be communication with the public to 
provide improved clarity regarding the statistics 
concerning access to appointments. 

In addition, in line with the concerns raised 
through the BOB JHOSC regarding the increasing 
reliance on administrative staff as well as 
physician associates for triaging and treating 
patients, the OJHOSC has strongly recommended 
to the ICB that there is clear transparency around 
the use of any competency frameworks and 
risk assessments that staff who are not trained 
doctors will be subjected to. Patient safety is 
key, and any increases in demand for GP services 
should not be met in a manner that may entail 
a risk to patients. This is of high public interest, 
and in relation to this matter, the committee 
recommended the publication of the themes 
of responses from stakeholders and groups in 
Oxfordshire about the ICB’s primary care strategy.

Dentistry provision in Oxfordshire:

Another key area of focus for the JHOSC has 
been on the current and future state of dentistry 
services for Oxfordshire residents. The committee 
has taken a keen interest and focus on NHS 
dentistry services in particular. The reason for 
this is due to the difficulties that many residents 
increasingly experience in being able to afford 
private dental care. In the context of the cost-of-
living crisis, residents have been struggling to 
afford private dental checkups and treatments. 
This has often resulted in residents abstaining 
from visiting a dentist or seeking dental treatment 
after an initial check-up. This is also concerning 
given that poor dental health is a leading cause 
for child admission to hospital. The challenges 
around receiving effective and adequate dentistry 
services is further compounded 
by the fact that residents have 
experienced difficulties in being 
able to receive NHS dentistry 
treatments and services. 

Page 31



14

To highlight the challenges around NHS dentistry 
provision within Oxfordshire, and to bring these 
to the attention of government, the committee 
wrote to the Secretary of State for Health and 
Social Care in relation to this matter in July 2023. 
There were two comprehensive and overarching 
themes that the committee had highlighted to 
the secretary of state which related to:

1. �The underlying oral health challenges 
and patterns relating to tooth decay and 
deprivation, which requires further collective 
national and systemwide efforts to resolve. 
One key recommendation that the JHOSC 
made to the secretary of state to address these 
long-term challenges was for government to 
support a local public consultation to raise 
awareness of the importance of, as well as to 
consider local views regarding the fluoridation 
of the county’s water supply. Given the proven 
benefits of fluoridating the water supply, the 
JHOSC strongly urged the secretary of state to 
support this.

2. �There are also challenges with how dentistry 
services are being delivered, which are 
complicating ease of access to dentistry 
services for ordinary residents. This partly 
relates to the limitations of existing NHS 
dentistry contracts and the lack of adequate 
incentives to encourage dentists/practices 
to offer NHS dental treatments and to opt for 
prioritising/favouriting private treatments as 
a result of the increasing financial incentives 
of doing so. This has often resulted in dental 
practices terminating NHS contracts for fears 
of financially losing out.

Therefore, the committee urged that the 
secretary of state supports urgent action to 
rectify the aforementioned challenges around 
NHS dentistry access for Oxfordshire’s residents. 

Furthermore, at its meeting on 18 April 2024, the 
JHOSC received a report providing an update 
on the current state of dentistry provision in 
Oxfordshire. This marked one year since the 
committee had received a previous update on 
the state of NHS dentistry services. As part of 

this item, the committee enquired about and 
emphasised the following key points:

 –    �The extent to which changes to NHS dentistry 
contacts were having an impact in improving 
both access to dentistry services as well as 
the capacity of the NHS in this regard. This is 
particularly important given the challenges 
around residents struggling to afford private 
dental treatments.

 –    �The extent of any progress in enabling new 
dental trainees to be placed on the NHS 
dental register without any undue delays. This 
point was particularly crucial given the ease 
with which new trainees could register for 
private dental practice. 

 –    �The degree to which information on how to 
access NHS dental services is easily accessible 
and available for residents. The committee 
also urged that there is clarity on the possible 
exemptions to charges for dental care that 
residents may be eligible for. 

 –    �The importance of clarity around the amount 
of dentistry underspends in Oxfordshire as 
well as how these were being reinvested into 
improving dentistry and oral health within the 
Oxfordshire system, especially in the areas 
identified as worst served and vulnerable 
populations.

The committee has been assured that 
the development of flexible contracting 
arrangements is making improvements and that 
there is work progressing on whether the ICB can 
itself advance new practices in the worst affected 
areas; as under new governance commissioning 
arrangements dentistry in Oxfordshire is 
overseen outside the ICB area by Surrey. 

The JHOSC will continue to monitor closely 
access to NHS dentistry within Oxfordshire, 
and will continue to support the system by 
lobbying government to do more to support 
improvements to dentistry access for 
Oxfordshire’s residents. 

Page 32



15

4 Other key highlights 
of HOSC activity: 

Health and wellbeing strategy for 
Oxfordshire:

Given its comprehensive remit over policies and 
measures taken by the Oxfordshire system to 
improve the overall health and wellbeing of the 
county’s residents, the JHOSC commissioned 
and received a report by the director of 
public health on the updating of the health 
and wellbeing strategy for Oxfordshire for its 
meeting on 21 September 2023. However, this 
strategy has remained a focus of the JHOSC’s 
scrutiny ever since, and the committee has 
commissioned a progress update response on the 
recommendation it had made on the strategy as 
part of this item.

The committee recognises the immense work 
by key system partners (including the county 
council, the city and district councils, the 
NHS, Healthwatch Oxfordshire, and other 
key stakeholders) to develop and update the 
health and wellbeing strategy. The strategy 
was therefore a product of joint production by 
system partners, and was also coproduced. The 
JHOSC understands, but also urged that the 
focus of the strategy was not to be on the nature 
of clinical services, but on the broader building 
blocks which should be health inclusive of 
residents living with physical and mental health 
conditions. In a report submitted to Oxfordshire 

County Council’s cabinet in 2023, the committee 
emphasised the importance of this being the 
key strategy at place, where the system carefully 
identifies the key building blocks of health, and 
explores avenues through which to improve the 
overall health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire’s 
residents. 

Through its discussions with system partners 
during its public meeting on 21 September, as 
well as through a detailed feedback document 
provided by the JHOSC on the updated health 
and wellbeing strategy, the following key themes/
points were highlighted. These points ultimately 
shaped the substance and wording of the 
recommendation that the committee made to the 
cabinet and the wider system in relation to the 
strategy: 

1. �That the cost-of-living crisis is negatively 
impacting the overall health and wellbeing of 
residents; particularly given the difficulties 
in households being able to afford healthy 
balanced diets. Additionally, the financial 
pressures generated by the cost of living is 
having a negative impact on mental health. The 
JHOSC therefore urged for there to be stronger 
clarification and understanding by the system 
to both determine how the crisis is affecting 
residents’ health, and to explore avenues 
through which to collectively alleviate these 
pressures on the local population.

2. �That individuals experiencing homelessness, 
in addition to those living in unsuitable, 
overcrowded, or badly maintained 
accommodation, could experience challenges 
to their mental and physical health. The JHOSC 

Page 33



16

therefore urged that housing was a factor that 
should strongly be taken into account when 
updating the strategy, and that the system 
should work closely, including with the city 
and district councils, to find ways to improve 
the accommodation and living conditions of 
Oxfordshire’s population.

3. �That inclusivity should be embedded within 
the continuous development of the strategy. 
Residents should be able to have efficient 
access to healthcare services and support. 
Whilst the JHOSC recognises that the strategy is 
not clinical in its nature, it urged key partners to 
work collaboratively on improving information 
to residents on the services available to them, 
and for relevant system partners to tackle long 
wait times for services. The committee also 
recommended to cabinet and the wider system 
that input from disadvantaged groups should 
be fed into the strategy.

The committee therefore issued the following 
specific recommendation to cabinet on 17 
October 2023:

To ensure careful, effective, and 
coordinated efforts amongst system 
partners to develop explicit criteria 
for monitoring the deliverability of the 
strategy; and to explore the prospect 
of enabling input/feedback from 
disadvantaged groups as part of this 
process.
This recommendation was accepted by cabinet, 
and the JHOSC was pleased to see in cabinet’s 
response that a delivery plan and outcomes 
framework for the updated strategy was to be 
developed and approved by the health and 
wellbeing board in the near future, and that this 
would build on the extensive public engagements 
undertaken as part of the efforts to update the 
strategy. Moving forward, the committee plans to 
retain its scrutiny of the strategy, particularly in 
light of the development of the delivery plan.

Health and wellbeing strategy
Principles
Prevention	 Tackling health inequalities	 Collaboration and partnership

Start well Live well Age well

The best start in life Deprivation, employment, and 
financial resilience

Preventing falls and supporting 
independence

Children and young people’s 
mental health and emotional 
wellbeing

Healthy homes Better supporting and  
diagnosing dementia

Healthy behaviours Building and maintaining  
strong social relationships

Healthy place shaping and building blocks of health

Climate change and health Physical activity and active travel Healthy food and healthy weight

Enablers
Data and digital 	 Workforce	 Anchor institutions 	 Vibrant communities

Page 34



17

Local Area Partnership SEND:

In light of the JHOSC’s remit over health for all 
ages, a key area of scrutiny that the JHOSC has 
been involved in is around special educational 
needs provision for children and young people. 
At its public meeting on 21 September 2023, the 
JHOSC discussed an outcome of a report that 
was published by Ofsted and the Care Quality 
Commission (CQC) on children’s SEND provision 
in Oxfordshire. At the time, the JHOSC worked 
closely with the People and Overview Scrutiny 
Committee (which then had a remit over children 
and educational services) to collectively scrutinise 
the outcome of the Ofsted/CQC inspection as well 
as the measures that the local area partnership 
would take in order to address the concerns 
highlighted in the report. The JHOSC issued a list 
of recommendations to the partnership which 
were in two segments; one segment of which 
were jointly issued between the JHOSC and the 
People and Overview Scrutiny Committee, and a 
second segment of which was issued specifically 
by the JHOSC. 

The JHOSC therefore issued a total of 13 
recommendations, all of which were accepted by 
the local area partnership. The committee is glad 
to see the publication of a priority action plan by 
the partnership. The JHOSC was also pleased to 
see that many of the recommendations it made 
as part of this item had influenced the nature 
and substance of the partnership’s priority 
action plan. Some key themes highlighted in the 
recommendations included an emphasis on the 
following:

1. �Ensuring that children and their families are 
aware of the SEND services available, and that 
they are aware of how to go about accessing 
these services, be they provided by Oxfordshire 
County Council, schools, or the NHS. 

2. �For there to be greater reductions in waiting 
times, in addition to clear timeframes to be 
created for reducing any backlogs.

3. �For the voices of children and their families 
to be adequately taken into consideration for 

the purposes of designing as well as providing 
support services for children with SEND.

4. �To address the concern highlighted by Ofsted 
and the CQC around the imperative for agencies 
within the local area partnership to work more 
cohesively in order to be able to effectively and 
efficiently provide support for children at the 
right time. 

As per a recommendation issued and agreed in 
its 21 September 2023 meeting, and in line with 
its remit over health for all-ages (as specified 
in the council’s constitution as well as by the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012), the JHOSC 
plans to commission a report with a 12 months 
on update on the local area partnership’s SEND 
improvement journey and its priority action plan. 
The aim is to scrutinise the impacts of the priority 
action plan and the SEND improvement journey 
on the physical and mental health of children 
and young people with SEND in Oxfordshire. As 
a natural subject of scrutiny for the JHOSC, the 
committee is also keen to understand the role of 
the ICB in contributing toward the improvement 
of the physical and mental health of children and 
young people with SEND.

Promoting healthy weight in Oxfordshire:

The JHOSC has developed a keen interest in 
maintaining ongoing focus and scrutiny of the 
efforts embarked upon by the county council’s 
public health directorate to promote healthy 
weight within the county. The committee is also 
pleased to see that work is being invested into 
promoting healthy weight in Oxfordshire, and 
endorses the initiative by the council’s public 
health team to tackle excess weight in particular. 

As part of its scrutiny of the measures being 
taken to improve excess weight, the committee 
was keen to understand a few 
important issues including; 
how the work 
to promote 
healthy weight 
sits in the 

Page 35



18

broader context of a preventative public health 
agenda, what the causes of excess weight 
were in Oxfordshire, and whether there was 
a strong correlation between excess weight 
and deprivation. The committee also sought 
to explore whether there were any significant 
obstacles to promoting healthy weight amongst 
the population, as such an initiative could be 
an extensive and challenging undertaking for a 
variety of reasons.

There were some key themes of emphases that 
the JHOSC had, which also shaped some of the 
recommendations made by the committee. Such 
themes of emphasis included the following:

1. �For there to be consistent support as part of 
secondary prevention for those living with 
excess weight; and for there to be improved 
means of accessing, as well as being aware 
of, the support services that are available for 
residents living with excess weight.

2. �For there to be effective support for ethnic 
groups that may be more likely to develop 
excess weight, and for measures to be taken to 
raise awareness amongst these groups of the 
support available to them.

3. �For the parents, carers, or families of children 
living with excess weight to receive adequate 
support, and it is crucial that they are provided 
with the tools to help manage them childrens’ 
weight. 

The committee was pleased to see that some 
of the steps taken by public health were in line 
with its recommendations. For instance, there 
were plans to commission an ‘all age service’ 
with some additional elements to meet the 
gaps identified in the health needs assessment. 
Additionally, the public health team were planning 
to review opportunities to increase awareness 
of support that is available amongst residents. 
The committee was also glad to hear that more 
support systems for grassroots communities and 
ethnic groups were being explored, and would 
like to see the continuation of this work, which 
would also complement the aims and objectives 
of the health and wellbeing strategy.

The development of the Oxfordshire  
Place-Based Partnership:

Another key area of interest and focus for 
the committee is on the recent and ongoing 
development of the Oxfordshire Place-Based 
Partnership. Given its broad remit over health and 
healthcare services as a whole, the JHOSC was keen 
to understand the membership of the partnership, 
how it is developing at the level of place, and any 
early measures taken by the partnership to improve 
the health and wellbeing of Oxfordshire’s residents. 
The JHOSC commissioned and received a report on 
the development of the Place-Based Partnership 
during its public meeting on 23 November 2023. 
The committee believes that given the loss of 
place-based clinical commissioning groups (which 
were also open to the public), it was vital that the 
Place-Based Partnership helped to fill this void 
inasmuch as possible. 

The committee laid strong emphasis on the 
importance of the partnership being able to 
develop robust mechanisms through which to 
monitor its effectiveness. This should include 
monitoring both the extent and the effectiveness 
of its collaboration, as well as the outcomes of any 
of its work. The JHOSC also recommended that 
there is clear transparency around the operation 
and the activities of the partnership, as this would 
help to further instil public confidence in the 
ICB as well as the new structures of healthcare 
decision-making replacing place-based clinical 
commissioning groups. 

Another key emphasis and recommendation made 
by the JHOSC revolved around the need for the 
partnership to operate in a manner that avoids 
simply duplicating the work of other bodies or their 
associated activities; particularly the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. The committee understands that 
the partnership exists parallel to other partnership 
bodies such as the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
and it therefore recommended that the Place-
Based Partnership could constitute (and should 
conduct itself) as a useful mechanism through 
which to bolster the aims and activities of the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

Page 36



19

Children’s emotional wellbeing and  
mental health:

Given the increasing challenges around children’s 
emotional wellbeing and mental health, which 
are not unique to Oxfordshire but which are 
being experienced nationwide, the committee 
commissioned a report from the director of public 
health and the interim director of children’s 
services on the children’s emotional wellbeing 
and mental health strategy during its meeting on 
23 November 2023. 

As part of seeking to understand and scrutinise 
the services available to improve children’s 
emotional wellbeing and mental health, the 
committee requested information on and sought 
to explore a variety of themes including; the 
level of engagement that the Oxfordshire system 
has had with children, young people as well as 
their parents or carers; whether there was ease 
of access to the range of services related to 
children’s emotional wellbeing and mental health; 
and if any digital platforms have been developed 
for children and young people to access to receive 
support for their mental health and emotional 
wellbeing. Indeed, this is a topic of ongoing 

interest to the committee, and by commissioning 
the aforementioned paper and item, the JHOSC 
sought to receive an update since the update 
received in 2022 on this topic. In fact, the 
committee was keen to, and laid emphasis on 
the imperative for the various partners in the 
Oxfordshire system, including in the county 
council and the NHS (including CAMHS), to work 
more closely toward exploring further avenues 
of funding and resourcing to deliver on the 
commitments to improve children’s mental health 
and emotional wellbeing. 

The committee also commissioned and received 
a paper in November 2023 with a specific 
update on the current state of CAMHS services. 
Some key lines of enquiry that the committee 
commissioned and queried in relation to CAMHS 
involved: details on waiting lists and how they 
are being managed/reduced; how effective 
and efficient the process of referrals are; and 
the extent to which staff training is sufficiently 
rigorous and monitored. 

The committee was pleased to see that the 
Oxfordshire system had worked together to 
produce the children’s emotional wellbeing and 

Intergrated Care Board (ICB)

Intergrated care system 
~ 1.8 million people

Intergrated Care Partnership (ICP)

Provider  
collaboratives Primary care networks (PCN)

Place
~ 500k people

Neighbourhood
~ 30k – 50k people

Page 37



20

mental health strategy. The committee believes 
that the adoption of a strategy in relation to 
children’s mental health can help to aggregate 
and organise the system’s commitments 
and resources in a coherent manner toward 
addressing challenges around children’s 
emotional wellbeing. 

In relation to children’s emotional wellbeing 
and mental health more broadly, the JHOSC 
laid emphasis on and issued some key 
recommendations (which were accepted) around 
some of the areas highlighted below. Below is 
also a brief outline of the indications of how some 
of these recommendations have been accepted 
and how the system is taking steps to take these 
recommendations from the committee on board:

1. �The committee recommended for there to be 
adequate co-production with children and their 
families as part of the continuing efforts to deliver 
the emotional wellbeing and mental health 
strategy. The county council cabinet, on behalf 
of the Oxfordshire system as a whole, accepted 
this recommendation and committed to ensuring 
that co-production is a critical part of both the 
development of the strategy as well as more 
specifically during the commissioning cycle.

2. �The committee also recommended that 
children and young people as well as their 
families continue to receive support that is 
specifically tailored toward their needs. As part 
of this, it was specifically recommended that 
a ‘needs-based approach’ should be explicitly 
adopted by the system, as opposed to a purely 
diagnosis-based approach. The committee 
argued that the adoption of a needs-based 
approach could allow for intervention to be 
initiated earlier, improving outcomes. Again, 
cabinet had accepted this recommendation, 
and clarified that system partners recognise 
the importance of this recommendation from 
the JHOSC of the imperative for services to 
be needs-led. The system expressed a strong 
commitment to provide support to children, 
young people and families at the earliest 
opportunity through using the think family 
approach. An early help strategy was also 

developed which endorsed the imperative to 
offer the right support at the right time. 

Additionally, the JHOSC also issued 
recommendations which more specifically 
revolved around the nature and effectiveness of 
CAMHS services. The committee was pleased to 
see that two of these recommendations (outlined 
below) were not only accepted but that the 
service was taking crucial steps to address these:

1. �The committee was keen to see that children 
and their families who are on waiting lists for 
treatment received appropriate communication 
as well as support to preclude their mental 
health from further declining. In line with this 
recommendation, the service committed to 
mitigation calls being made to families as a 
check in to ensure that their circumstances and 
symptoms had not changed. The committee 
was also pleased to hear that the service would 
also launch the SHaRON online peer support 
platform from Spring 2024, where families 
would have monitored access to sharing their 
experiences with other families. 

2. �The JHOSC also issued another crucial 
recommendation around the importance 
for CAMHS to work on improving public 
communications campaigns to create a better 
understanding of the service and how it also 
relates to any other early intervention services. 
The committee was also pleased to hear that 
in line with this recommendation, CAMHS was 
committed to working on a communication 
strategy to ensure that they are communicating 
to all their external stakeholders, and that this 
would be used as a vehicle to share all CAHMS-
related developments including any challenges 
or successes that the service was experiencing. 
The service also committed to exploring 
communication by different platforms such as 
newsletters, in-person events, and social media.

Page 38



21

5 Looking ahead  
to 2024/25 

Staffing and capacity

One of the key challenges that the JHOSC had 
experienced, particularly during the civic year 
2022/2023, related to staffing capacity. However, 
with the appointment of a permanent health 
scrutiny officer in July 2023, the committee was 
in a stronger position to undertake its scrutiny 
and relationship building work much more 
effectively. The number of recommendations 
and reports being issued to both cabinet 
and the NHS increased within the last civic 
year, and the committee now has the staffing 
capacity to pursue and request responses to its 
recommendations within the statutory response 
period of 28 days as stipulated by the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. 

Additionally, the work of the committee is, and 
will continue to be further supported given the 
recent appointment of a permanent democratic 
services officer, who will be providing some 
additional administrative support to the 
committee’s business under the guidance of 
the health scrutiny officer. This will allow for the 
timely completion and publications of agenda 
papers, minutes, and reports. In removing a 
number of the process aspects of the role from 
the health scrutiny officer, such as preparation 
of agenda papers and minutes, this will enable 
the health scrutiny officer to dedicate focus on 
ways to increase the value of Health Scrutiny, 
submitting higher quality scrutiny reports 
to cabinet and the NHS, undertaking greater 
research and communication with partners, and 
establishing committee working groups for the 
purposes of conducting deep-dives into specific 
areas of healthcare services.

Co-optees:

The structure of the JHOSC’s membership is 
such that there is room for three co-optees 
on the committee. The presence of co-opted 
members provides two advantages for the 
JHOSC. Firstly, co-opted members are usually 
selected on the basis of them having relevant 
expertise in health-related issues or healthcare 
services, and this allows them to provide specific 
expertise to the committee’s work. Secondly, 
co-optees are recruited from outside the council 
and are therefore not elected officials, usually 
affiliated with a party. This provides further 
apolitical input into the JHOSC and its work, 
and will contribute to the purpose of scrutiny 
to improve health services across political 
boundaries. 

Within the past civic year, two co-optees have 
submitted their resignation, Jean Bradlow and 
Siama Ahmed. The committee would like to 
express its gratitude for their contribution to the 
JHOSC’s scrutiny work. The committee currently 
has one co-optees in post, Barbara Shaw, and 
would like to express thanks to Barbara for 
her ongoing contributions to the committee’s 
business. 

Page 39



22

Moving forward, the committee’s chair and 
health scrutiny officer will work closely to 
identify potential suitable candidates to fill in the 
two vacant co-optee posts. 

Commitments to increasing diversity, 
engagement, and public input:

One of the commitments outlined in last year’s 
HOSC annual report was to increasing diversity, 
engagement, as well as representation and 
input from the public. One improvement in this 
regard has been around the increasing diversity 
of public speakers who have participated in the 
JHOSC’s public meetings during this year. Public 
speakers who have participated in the JHOSC’s 
meetings have come from a broader array of 
organisations, and have also been speaking on a 
more comprehensive range of issues/topics. 

The committee had a total of 12 public speakers 
within the last civic year. These public speakers 
have spoken on a range of areas that relate 
strongly to the JHOSC’s items of scrutiny. These 
include speaking on access to GP services, 
the current difficulties around accessing NHS 
dentistry services, children’s SEND provision, 
children’s emotional wellbeing and mental 
health, the support for people leaving hospital, 
and on the future of Wantage Community 
Hospital. These public speakers have 
represented a variety of organisations including 
Townlands Steering Group; Bell Surgery Patient 
Participation Group; and Keep Our NHS Public. 
The health scrutiny officer and the JHOSC 
chair will continue to work towards increasing 
public input into the committee’s business and 
scrutiny, as this can help to further inform the 
committee’s knowledge and understanding 
of some of the challenges that residents may 
be facing when using healthcare services. It 
will be ideal for the JHOSC to move toward 
incorporating and inviting individuals who are 
on the receiving end of healthcare services to 
particular public meeting items to voice their 
experiences, as opposed to simply inviting 
commissioners or providers of the services 

in question. Moreover, in light of the need to 
recruit two further co-optees on the committee, 
and given the commitments to increasing 
equality, diversity, and representation, the 
JHOSC will commit to ensuring that co-optees 
do provide voices that highlight inequalities and 
that champion diversity, inclusion, and public 
participation. 

Future themes/items of scrutiny:

The committee has identified medicines 
shortages as a matter of high public concern, 
and is keen to understand how these are 
managed and the impacts of these shortages 
locally. This would clearly affect anyone who 
relies on medication to stay well; and so this has 
provisionally been identified for scrutiny at the 
JHOSC’s September meeting. 

There are some additional key areas that 
the JHOSC can commit itself toward 
scrutinising over the next civic year. Whilst new 
developments may likely arise and may merit 
the attention of the JHOSC, some areas would 
include items that will naturally remain an 
ongoing subject of scrutiny as outlined below.

Access to primary care:

The committee would like to closely retain its 
focus on access to primary care; with particular 
attention to access to GP services as well as 
dentistry services. In regards to GP services, 
the committee would like to keep a spotlight 
on how the ICB is taking adequate measures to 
work with relevant partners, including district 
councils, to coordinate the use of funds for 
the purposes of increasing the capacity of GP 
services in light of the increase demand. In 
regards to dentistry services, the committee 
would like to receive further reassurances that 
the ICB is taking adequate steps to support 
the creation of new dental practices and to 
avert the emergence of ‘dentistry deserts’ in 
disadvantaged areas and rural parts of the 
county, particularly given the tendency for some 
dentists and practices to cease NHS treatments 

Page 40



23

due to the lack of incentives produced by NHS 
dentistry contracts. 

Children’s SEND provision:

The JHOSC is committed to reviewing the steps 
taken by the local area partnership to address 
the concerns raised by Ofsted and the CQC, and 
would like to convene a second public meeting 
item on this topic (with a specific focus on the 
physical and mental health implications) to seek 
reassurances that the partnership’s priority 
Action plan is producing tangible and effective 
results in improving SEND provision for children 
and young people in Oxfordshire. 

Health and wellbeing strategy:

The JHOSC is supportive of the work undertaken 
by Oxfordshire County Council and its partners 
to update the health and wellbeing strategy, and 
is pleased to hear that a delivery plan is to be 
developed. The JHOSC would like to review the 
delivery plan of the strategy as well as the overall 
deliverability of the commitments outlined in the 
updated version of the strategy. 

Future of Wantage Community Hospital:

As outlined earlier in this report, the JHOSC 
intends to engage in ongoing scrutiny of the 
project delivery plan around the future of 
Wantage Community Hospital. The JHOSC’s 
substantial change working group will 
continue to hold regular check-in meetings 
with representatives from Oxford Health NHS 
Foundation Trust and the ICB to receive regular 
updates on the status and delivery of the 
project delivery plan for the future services to 
be delivered at the hospital. The JHOSC opted 
not to refer this matter to the secretary of state 
in the hope that a local resolution – and thus 
better outcomes for all stakeholders - could be 
achieved. However, this decision was only made 
on the condition that the committee remains 
engaged in continuous scrutiny of the NHS’s 
commitments to deliver and expand hospital-
like services in Wantage.

Workforce recruitment and retention:

In light of some of the increasing challenges 
around workforce recruitment and retention, 
which are not unique to Oxfordshire but are 
experienced nationwide, the committee would 
like to retain an ongoing theme of enquiry 
relating to staff recruitment and retention within 
all its relevant scrutiny items. Related to this 
is also the JHOSC’s commitment to continue 
to investigate the degree to which staff within 
healthcare services are suitable trained and 
supported. The committee is keen to see that 
all staff within the sector receive not only 
fair pay, but also adequate support for their 
overall wellbeing, and that they feel sufficiently 
confident and supported to execute their roles 
and responsibilities. Indeed, this will have a 
knock-on effect on the wellbeing of patients 
and on the quality of healthcare services that 
residents will receive. 

Page 41



For further information on the 
Committee, and its work, see the 
links and contact details below:  

Committee details - Oxfordshire Joint Health 
Overview & Scrutiny 

Chair: Cllr Jane Hanna OBE  
 jane.hanna@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Contact Officer: Dr Omid Nouri   
omid.nouri@oxfordshire.gov.uk

Page 42

https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=148
https://mycouncil.oxfordshire.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=148


Divisions affected – All  

COUNCIL 

9 JULY 2024 
 

REVIEW OF POLITICAL BALANCE 

 

Report of the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
1. Council is RECOMMENDED 

 

a) To note the review of political balance of committees to reflect the election of a 

new councillor, Peter Stevens, at the Sutton Courtenay and Marcham by-

election on 20 June 2024 and the resignation of two members, Cllr Kevin 

Bulmer and Cllr Jane Murphy, from the Conservative Independent Alliance.   

 

b) To appoint members to the committees of the Council listed at Annex 1. A fully 

populated list with nominations from the political groups for the vacant seats 

will be circulated ahead of the meeting.  

Background 

2. Seats are allocated to political groups in accordance with the groups' 

proportionate strength on the Council as a whole.  Any seats left over are 

distributed to any non-aligned Independent members who are not members of 

a political group.   

 

3. The following rules, in priority order, apply for political proportionality: 

(i) Where a group has an overall majority on the Council, that group is 

entitled to a majority of the seats on each committee and sub-

committee.   

(ii) Each political group is entitled to its proportion of the total number of 

seats on all the committees added together, according to the ratio of 

the number of members of the group to the number of members of the 

Council.  

(iii) Subject to (i) and (ii) above, each group is entitled to its proportion of 

the number of seats on each individual committee.     

(iv) For sub-committees and some other bodies, a group is entitled to its 

proportion of the number of seats regardless of the total number of 

seats involved (but still subject to the majority rule in (i) above).     

Page 43

Agenda Item 11



 

4. As the Council does not have a majority administration, (i) is not applicable but 

(ii), (iii) and (iv) do need to be applied to the allocation of seats.   

 

5. Ahead of the Annual Meeting of the Council on 21 May 2024, Cllr Richard 

Webber resigned as a councillor and three members joined a new political 

group: The Independent Voice of Oxfordshire (TIVOO). 

 
6. The committee representation agreed at the Annual Meeting of Council 

reflected the political proportionately of the Council at that time – 22 Liberal 

Democrat Green Alliance: 22 Conservative Independent Alliance: 14 Labour & 

Cooperative Party Group: 3 The Independent Voice of Oxfordshire. There was 

one seat remaining for Cllr Hannah Banfield as a non-aligned Independent 

councillor: Horton Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
7. With 22 members in the Liberal Democrat Green Alliance and Conservative 

Independent Alliance at the time of the Annual Meeting of Council, the 

theoretical entitlements to seats on committees for both political groups was 

the same (34.42).  Thirty-five seats were allocated to the Liberal Democrat 

Green Alliance and 34 seats were allocated to the Conservative Independent 

Alliance.  The additional seat was on the Planning and Regulation Committee 

on the basis that the Liberal Democrat Green Alliance held this seat before Cllr 

Webber resigned. 

 

Review of political balance  
8. Since the Annual Council Meeting on 21 May 2024, Cllr Peter Stevens was 

elected at a by-election on 20 June 2024 as the new member for the Sutton 

Courtenay and Marcham Division.  Cllr Stevens stood as a Liberal Democrat 

and has joined the Liberal Democrat Green Alliance.   

 

9. Councillors Kevin Bulmer and Jane Murphy have left the Conservative 

Independent Alliance and become non-aligned Independent members.  

 

10. The political balance calculation is now based on the following political group 

sizes: 

23 Liberal Democrat Green Alliance 

20 Conservative Independent Alliance 

 14 Labour & Cooperative Party 

3 The Independent Voice of Oxfordshire 

3 Non-aligned Independent 

 

11. The revised political proportionality calculations are shown in Annex 2 and are 

summarised as follows:   

Page 44



i) Conservative Independent Alliance lose three seats – People Scrutiny, 

Place Scrutiny and the Charlotte Coxe Trust Committee. 

ii) Liberal Democrat Green Alliance representation is unchanged – this 

includes the seat on Planning and Regulation Committee referred to in 

paragraph 7.  

iii) Labour and Cooperative Party Group representation is unchanged 

iv) The Independent Voice of Oxfordshire representation is unchanged 

v) There are four seats unallocated that are available to non-aligned 

Independents – People Scrutiny, Place Scrutiny, Horton HOSC and the 

Charlotte Coxe Trust Committee.  

 

Other appointments 
12. Annex 1 also includes a list of other bodies that have historically been 

appointed to at the Annual Meeting of Council. Current membership is shown 

along with vacant positions.   

 

Legal implications 
13. The rules on political balance are contained in Sections 15, 16 and 17 of the 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (‘the Act’) and the Local 

Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. The 

applicable rules from Section 15(5) of the Act are summarised in paragraphs 3 

and 4 of the report and these have been applied to the calculations in the 

annexes. Other legal considerations are contained in the main body of this 

report.   

Comments checked by: Anita Bradley, Director of Law & Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Financial implications  
14. There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this 

report. 

 

Comments checked by: Ian Dyson, Director of Financial and Commercial 

Services, ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Anita Bradley 

Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 

Annex 1 – Committee membership and other appointments 

Annex 2 – Political proportionality calculations 

 

Contact officer: Simon Harper, Head of Governance, 

simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

July 2024 

Page 45

mailto:ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  Annex 1 

 

Committee membership – July 2024 
 
Key 

Liberal Democrat Green Alliance LDG  

Conservative Independent Alliance CIA  

Labour & Cooperative Party Group Lab Coop  

The Independent Voice of Oxfordshire TIVOO  

Non-aligned Independent NA Ind  

 

 LDG CIA Lab Coop TIVOO NA Ind 

Audit & 

Governance (9) 
4 3 2  

 

 

 
Jane 

Hanna  

Ted 

Fenton  
Brad 

Baines  

 
 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby  

Felix 

Bloomfield  
Glynis 

Phillips  

 
 

 
Ian 

Middleton   

Nick 

Leverton  
  

 
 

 Roz Smith        

BOB HOSC (7) 3 2 1 1 
 

 

 
Jane 

Hanna 

Nick 

Leverton 

Michael 

O’Connor 

Damian 

Haywood 
 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby 

Nigel 

Champken

-Woods 

 

 

 

 

 
Freddie 

van Mierlo 
  

 

 

Charlotte Coxe 

Trust (5) 
2 1 1 

 
1 

 
Robin 

Bennett 

Felix 

Bloomfield 
Geoff Saul 

 Jane 

Murphy 

 
Freddie 

van Mierlo 
  

 
 

E&YP OSC (9) 3 3 2 1  

 Andy 

Graham 

Eddie 

Reeves 

Liz 

Brighouse 

Sally 

Povolotsky 
 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby 

Michael 

Waine 

Trish 

Elphinstone 
  

 Roz Smith Ian Corkin    

Page 47



  Annex 1 

Horton HOSC 

(8) 
3 3 1 

 
1 

 
Andy 

Graham  

Arash 

Fatemian 
Mark Cherry 

 Hannah 

Banfield 

 
Jane 

Hanna   

Kieron 

Mallon 
 

 
 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby  

Eddie 

Reeves 
 

 
 

Oxfordshire 

Joint HOSC (7) 
3 2 

 

2 

 

 
 

 

 
Jane 

Hanna 

Nick 

Leverton 
Mark Lygo 

 
 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby 

Nigel 

Champken

-Woods 

Michael 

O’Connor 

 

 

 
Freddie 

van Mierlo 
  

 
 

Pension Fund 

(7) 
3 2 2 

 
 

 Vacancy 
Nick Field-

Johnson 
Imade 

Edosomwan 

 
 

 
John 

Howson 

Donna 

Ford 

Michael 

O’Connor 

 
 

 
Ian 

Middleton 
  

 
 

People OSC (9) 3 3 2  1 

 
Andy 

Graham 

Ted 

Fenton  

Trish 

Elphinstone 

 Kevin 

Bulmer 

 
Jenny 

Hannaby 

Nick 

Leverton 

Imade 

Edosomwan 

 
 

 
Alison 

Rooke 

Michael 

Waine 
 

 
 

      

Performance & 

Corporate 

Services OSC 

(9) 

3 3 2 1  

 
Ian 

Middleton 

Arash 

Fatemian  

Brad Baines 

 

Damian 

Haywood 
 

 
Calum 

Miller 

Kieron 

Mallon  

Glynis 

Phillips 

 
 

 
Bob 

Johnston 
Tony Ilott   

 
 

Page 48



  Annex 1 

Place OSC (9) 2 3 3  1 

 
Bethia 

Thomas  

Nigel 

Simpson 

Charlie 

Hicks` 

 
Vacancy 

 
Robin 

Bennett 

Felix 

Bloomfield  

Duncan 

Enright 

 
 

  
Liam 

Walker 

Susanna 

Pressel  

 
 

      

Planning & 

Regulation (12) 
4 4 3 1  

 
Judy 

Roberts 
Les Sibley Geoff Saul 

Stefan 

Gawrysiak 
 

 
David 

Rouane 

Ted 

Fenton 
Mohamed 

Fadlalla 

 
 

 
Robin 

Bennett 

Ian 

Snowdon 
Imade 

Edosomwan 

 
 

 
Bob 

Johnston 

Felix 

Bloomfield 
 

 
 

Remuneration 

(6) 
2 2 

 

1 

 

1 
 

 

 
Liz 

Leffman 

Nigel 

Simpson  
Liz 

Brighouse 

Stefan 

Gawrysiak  

 
John 

Howson 

Kieron 

Mallon  
 

 
 

 

  

Page 49



  Annex 1 

Other appointments – May 2024 

 OCC & 

Employees JCC 

(7)   

2   3   2   

    

 
Neil 

Fawcett    

David 

Bartholomew 

Trish 

Elphinstone  

  

 
Ian 

Middleton 

Juliette Ash Glynis 

Phillips  

  

  
 

Tony Ilott        

 OCC & Teachers 

JCC (5)   

2   2   1       

 
Andy 

Graham   

Ian Corkin Susanna 

Pressel   

  

  
Kate 

Gregory   

Michael 

Waine   

 
    

 OCC JCC for 

Uniformed 

Members of the 

Fire Service (7)   

3   2   2       

 
Kate 

Gregory 

Ted Fenton   

 

Andrew 

Coles  

  

 Nathan Ley  Nick Leverton  Mark Lygo     

  
Alison 

Rooke   

  
    

Future 

Oxfordshire 

Partnership 

Scrutiny Panel 

(3)   

1   1   1       

   
Vacancy   Felix 

Bloomfield 

Charlie 

Hicks   

    

Thames Valley 

Police & Crime 

Panel (1)   

1             

   Roz Smith           

 

Page 50



Annex 2 

Political proportionately calculations – July 2024 
 

The political groups’ notional entitlements to membership of committees is shown in 

red below. The proposed number of seats is in black. 

 

Committees LDG CIA Lab Coop TIVOO NA Ind 

Audit & 

Governance (9) 
3.29 4 2.86 3 2.00 2   

BOB HOSC (7) 2.56 3 2.22 2 1.56 1 0.33 1  

Charlotte Coxe 

Trust (5) 
1.83 2 1.59 1 

 

1.11 1 

 

  

0.24 1 

 

Education and 

Young People 

OSC (9) 

3.29 3 2.86 3 2.00 2 0.43 1  

Horton HOSC 

(8) 
2.92 3 2.54 3 1.78 1 

 
0.38 1 

OJHOSC (7) 2.56 3 2.33 2 1.56 2   

Pension Fund 

(7) 
2.56 3 2.22 2 

 

1.56 2  

 

  

People OSC (9)  3.29 3 

 

2.86 3 

 

 

2.00 2 

 

 

 

0.43 1 

 

Performance & 

Corporate 

Services OSC 

(9)  

3.29 3 2.86 3 2.00 2 0.43 1  

 

Place OSC (9)  

 

3.29 2 2.86 3 2.00 3  

 

0.43 1 

 

Planning & 

Regulation (12) 

 

4.38 4 

 

3.81 4 

 

2.67 3 

 

0.57 1 

 

 

Remuneration 

(6)  
2.19 2 

 

1.90 2 

 

 

1.331 

 

 

0.29 1 

 

 

Overall 

entitlement (97 

seats) 

35.41 35 30.79 31 21.56 22 

 

4.62 5 

 

4.62 4 

Page 51



Annex 2 

 

Page 52



Divisions affected – All 

COUNCIL 

9 JULY 2024 

INDEPENDENT PERSONS 

Report of the Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

RECOMMENDATION 

1. Council is RECOMMENDED  

 

To extend the appointments of Mr Martyn Hocking and Mr Nicholas Holt-Kentwell 

in the role of Independent Persons for Oxfordshire County Council until 30 

November 2024. 

Background 

2. The Council must seek the views of an Independent Person, and take them into 

account, before making its decision on any allegation investigated under the 

Member Code of Conduct.   

 

3. As part of the ‘arrangements for dealing with complaints against members’ 

adopted by Council on 16 April 2024, the Monitoring Officer reviews complaints 

received.  Following consultation with the Independent Person, the Monitoring 

Officer makes a decision on the action to be taken: refer the complaint for local 

resolution, refer the complaint for investigation or to take no further action.  

 

4. In the event that the Council was to consider the dismissal of the Head of Paid 

Service, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer, it must consult a Panel of 

at least two Independent Persons. There is an expectation that such Independent 

Persons will, if possible, be those appointed by the Council. The Panel gives full 

Council any advice, views or recommendations relating to a proposed dismissal.  

Present arrangements 

5. The Council currently has two Independent Persons, Mr Martyn Hocking and Mr 

Nicholas Holt-Kentwell, who were appointed by Council on 14 July 2020 for a 

two-year term.  These appointments were renewed for a further two-years and 

will end on 13 July 2024. Both Mr Hocking and Mr Holt-Kentwell have indicated 

that they are prepared to continue in their roles until 30 November 2024. 

 

6. Mr Hocking and Mr Holt-Kentwell have experience as Magistrates. Both 

demonstrate, and are committed to, high standards of conduct in public service. 

They are both experienced, impartial, and evidence-based decision makers. 

Recruitment campaign 

7. The Council has launched a recruitment campaign for the appointment of 

Independent Persons. To allow sufficient time to publicise and recruit into these 
Page 53

Agenda Item 12



roles it is proposed that the appointments of Mr Hocking and Mr Holt-Kentwell are 

extended until 30 November 2024.   

 

8. The role has been advertised in such manner as the authority considers is likely 

to bring it to the attention of the public. The campaign has reached out to 

community groups, sports clubs, as well as other local authorities, including 

parish and town councils.  The role has been published on the Council’s website 

(see Annex 1) and there will be coverage through social media channels.  

 

9. Interviews with interested persons will be undertaken by the Monitoring Officer, 

the Chair and Deputy Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee or other 

members of the committee as required.   

   

Legal implications 
10. The Council is required under Section 28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 to appoint 

Independent Persons to fulfil key aspects of the Council’s governance as outlined 

in this report. An Individual cannot be appointed as an Independent Person if 

they are: 

a) An elected member, co-opted member or an officer of the Council, or any 

other council within the county area, or have been so within the past five 

years. 

b) The relative or close friend of a member, co-opted member or office of the 

Council, or any other council within its district. 

c) A member of a political party or politically active 

 

11. The role of Independent Persons in relation to the dismissal of the Head of Paid 

Service, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer arises from the Local 

Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015.  

 

Comments checked by – Anita Bradley, Director of Law & Governance and 

Monitoring Officer 

 

Financial implications  
12. Whilst the roles are voluntary and are not remunerated, an Independent Person 

is entitled to claim a nominal allowance of £500 per annum.  

 

Comments checked by: Ian Dyson, Director of Financial and Commercial 

Services, ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Equality and diversity implications  
13. The recruitment campaign is intended to draw interest from a wider range of 

people living and working in Oxfordshire and neighbouring areas. 

 

Anita Bradley 

Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 

Page 54

mailto:ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk


Contact officer: Simon Harper, Head of Governance, 

simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk 

 

July 2024 

  

Page 55

mailto:simon.harper@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 

Annex 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Are you fair-minded, impartial and a good communicator? 

Can you reach independent conclusions based on the facts?  

Can you bring a measure of experience and common sense to   

handling complex and sometimes contentious issues? 

  

Oxfordshire County Council needs 'Independent Persons' to help the 

Monitoring Officer with councillor standards work. If you care about high 

standards in public life and local governance, you may be a good fit for this 

role.  

Each council has a duty to promote and maintain high standards of conduct 

of councillors and deal with complaints against councillors. The role of 

Independent Person involves being called on to assist with complaints. You 

would be working closely with the Councils’ Monitoring Officer who will 

formally consult you with regards to how matters should be handled.  

The Independent Person must be independent of the Council. Someone 

cannot be appointed to this role if they are a councillor, co-opted councillor 

or officer or a parish councillor within the Council area or been so within the 

last five years.  

If you are interested or want further details then please contact the 

Democratic Services Team at:  

committeesdemocraticservices@Oxfordshire.gov.uk 

  

Page 56



 

Divisions Affected – N/A 

 

COUNCIL – 9 July 2024 
 

THE USE OF SPECIAL URGENCY FOR KEY DECISIONS 
 

Report by Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. Council is RECOMMENDED to note  

 

(a) the use of Special Urgency for a Key Decision on 23 May 2024 and 
 

(b) the exemption from Call-in of a Key Decision made by Cabinet on 14 

May 2024. 
 

Executive Summary 

 

2. The Constitution makes provision for the taking of an urgent decision by the 
Chief Executive in accordance with the provisions of para 2(c) of Part 7.1 where 
time is of the essence and it is impracticable to secure authority to act where 

such authority would otherwise be required.  
 

3. Part 8.1 Section 17.3 of the Constitution requires that “the Leader of the Council 

will submit quarterly reports to the Council on any executive decisions taken in 
the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency) in the preceding three 

months. The report will include the number of decisions so taken and a summary 
of the matters in respect of which those decisions were taken”. 
 

4. In accordance with Rule 16 the key decision on the change of arrangements 
relating to the provision of recycling and waste services was brought to the 

attention of the Chair of the Council who agreed that the taking of the decision 
could not be reasonably deferred and could be taken under the Special Urgency 
Procedure. 

 
5. The item was also exempt from Call-in as any delay likely to be caused by the 

call in process would seriously have prejudiced the Council’s or the public’s 
interests and the Chair of the Council agreed that in all the circumstances the 
decision should be treated as a matter of urgency as required under Part 6.2, 

Section 20 of the Constitution. 
 

6. An item on the agenda for the Cabinet meeting on 14 May 2024 was also 
exempted from Call-in.  The item, Cost of Living Programme for 2024/25, 
included funding for the provision of food vouchers in the school holidays for the 

Page 57

Agenda Item 13



families of children entitled to Free School meals. The Chair of the Council 
agreed that in all the circumstances the decision should be treated as a matter 
of urgency as required under Part 6.2, Section 20 of the Constitution. 

Reasons for Special Urgency 

 

7. The Constitution specifies procedures and timescales that have to be followed 
where a local authority executive, committee or individual is taking a Key 
Decision. A Key Decision is defined in the Council’s Constitution (Part 1.3, 

Section 3 (b)) “as being 25% of the annual revenue budget for the relevant 
service block (i.e. that part of the Council’s total revenue budget allocated to the 

Cabinet Member for the service area concerned) or £500,000, whichever is the 
lower figure, and £1m in the case of capital expenditure; or 25% of the people 
living or working in the area affected; or 25% of the capacity, frequency or hours 

of operation of a service or facility.” 
 

8. Local Authorities are legally required to publicise Key Decisions in their forward 
plans a minimum of 28 clear days prior to the decision being taken. 
 

9. As is common practice, the Constitution makes provision for decisions to be 
taken, as a matter of urgency, where it is impracticable to give the requisite 

notice. The general exception rule allows Key Decisions to be taken within the 
28 day period, providing the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee has been 
informed by notice of the decision to be taken, the Council has made publicly 

available a copy of that notice and five clear days have elapsed since the 
publication of that notice. 

 
10. In exceptional cases where a Key Decision is required to be taken even sooner 

and it is impracticable to wait for the five clear days required under general 

exception provisions, then the special urgency rules can be applied. In such 
instances, the decision may only be made if the decision-maker has obtained 

the agreement of the Chair of the relevant Scrutiny Committee, that the decision 
is urgent and cannot be reasonably deferred.  If there is no Chair of the Scrutiny 
Committee, or if the Chair is unable to act, then the agreement of the Chair of 

the Council, or in her/his absence the Vice-Chair will suffice. 
 

11. Furthermore, the Constitution states (Part 6.2, Section 20) that the provision for 
Call-In “shall not apply where the decision being taken by the Cabinet, Officer 
or other decision maker is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to 

be caused by the call in process would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the 
public’s interests. The record of the decision, and notice by which it is made 

public shall state whether in the opinion of the decision maker, the decision is 
an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call in. The Chair of the Council must 
agree that in all the circumstances the decision should be treated as a matter 

of urgency. In the absence of the Chair, the Vice-Chair’s agreement shall be 
required. In the absence of both, the Proper Officer’s agreement shall be 

required. Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next 
meeting of the Council, together with the reasons for urgency.”  

 

Page 58



12. In relation to the Key Decision by the Chief Executive on 23 May 2024, the 
Constitution states that the use of the special urgency provision requires the 
agreement of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee. In 

this case that would be the Place Overview & Scrutiny Committee.  However, 
there was no Chair in place as this issue arose after the Annual Council meeting 

and before the committee met again to elect a Chair.  Therefore, the agreement 
of the Chair of the Council was sought and given (see paragraph 10). 
 

13. The urgent decision was to consent to the change of arrangements relating to 
the provision of recycling and waste services at the Ardley In-Vessel 

Composting site by the Council’s contractor, Severn Trent Green Power. Ardley 
In-Vessel Composting site had been sold to Biffa who now the operate the site. 
There are no service reductions to the Council, and the Council’s contractor 

remains Severn Trent Green Power.  This decision was taken urgently because 
to delay would have been detrimental to the Council’s commercial and financial 

interests. This was above the key decision threshold so met the criteria for a 
key decision, but the details remain exempt under Paragraph 3 Schedule 12A 
Local Government Act 1972.  

 
 

14. In relation to the Cabinet item, Cost of Living Programme for 2024/25, this 
included funding for the half term holiday at the end of May. If officers had had 
to wait until the call-in period after Cabinet had expired, there would be 

insufficient time for settings to purchase the vouchers for distribution to relevant 
families before the break.   The Government decision on this came too late for 
the item to be taken to April Cabinet.   

 

Financial Implications 

 
15. There are none arising from this report which is noting decisions previously 

taken. 
 
Comments checked by: Ian Dyson, Director of Financial and Commercial 

Services, ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Legal Implications 

 
16. Regulation 19 of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and  

Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 requires that the executive  
leader submits a report to the authority at least annually on executive decisions  

taken in cases of special urgency (Regulation 11), including the particulars of 
each decision. 
 

This report is fulfilling both the legal and Constitutional duty to inform Council.  
 

Comments checked by: Paul Grant, Head of Legal & Deputy Monitoring 
Officer, paul.grant@oxfordshire.gov.uk  
 

Page 59

mailto:ian.dyson@oxfordshire.gov.uk
mailto:paul.grant@oxfordshire.gov.uk


 
 
 

ANITA BRADLEY 
Director of Law & Governance and Monitoring Officer 

 
 
Annex: None 

  
 

Background papers: None 
 
 

Contact Officer: Colm Ó Caomhánaigh, Democratic Services Manager, 
colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

 
July 2024 

Page 60

mailto:colm.ocaomhanaigh@oxfordshire.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	9 Report of the Cabinet
	10 Annual Report of the Oxfordshire Joint Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee
	CC240709R10 Annex 1 OCC HOSC annual report 24

	11 Committees and Review of Political Balance
	CC240709R11 Annex 1
	CC240709R11 Annex 2

	12 Independent Persons
	13 Special Urgency Decisions

